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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any

loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Boltek Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the "Group” or “"We") collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would

make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to
present the annual report of Boltek Holdings Limited for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (the “Year").

LISTING ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE

The ordinary shares of our Company were successfully listed (the
"Listing”) on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 13 September 2018
(the "Listing Date"”) which marked a significant milestone for our
Group. 200,000,000 ordinary shares of our Company were issued
under the share offer (the “Share Offer”), raising net proceeds of
approximately HK$55.2 million (after deducting expenses from the
Listing ("Listing Expenses”)).

OVERVIEW

With the capital raised from the Listing, the Group has greater
flexibility to enhance our service capacity with a newly employed
in-house team of professional staff which strengthens the Group’s

market position in Hong Kong.

For the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$100.7 million, representing an increase of approximately
13.9% as compared to approximately HK$88.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018. For the Year, the Group recorded
profit attributed to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$16.5 million as compared to loss recorded for the year ended
31 December 2018 of approximately HK$1.4 million. The increase
of the profit was mainly attributable to the nonrecurring Listing

Expenses for the year ended 31 December 2018.
Setting aside the Listing Expenses, the Group's net profit for the

year ended 31 December 2018 would have been approximately
HK$16.4 million (2019: HK$16.5 million).
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERE

PROSPECT

In view of the strong demand in the infrastructure development
market, infrastructure developers are more actively launching new

projects with aggressive financing schemes.

There has been an increasing number of project quotation
invitations received by the Group from potential and current
customers, and the net proceeds from the Listing are expected
to allow expansion of the Group'’s service capacity. The Group will
continue to improve our operation efficiency and profitability of our
business. The Group plans to expand our team of professionals,
which will enhance the basis of our technical capability to bid for
future projects. The Group will also proactively seek opportunities
to expand our customer base and our market share and undertake
more building projects which will enhance value to our shareholders

and stakeholders.

Based on the Group’s accumulated expertise and experiences
in the industry, the Directors are cautiously optimistic about the

Group's business outlook.

The Board believes that the Listing has enhanced the Group’s
image in relevant business sectors. With our active business
strategy in the coming year, the Group expects to create greater

value to our shareholders and investors.

It has been unfortunate and with deep sorrow that the world has
witnessed the start of the year and decade with major catastrophes
and developments, from Australia bush fires to the outbreak of the
novel coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic. While the Group is closely
monitoring these developments, it remains steadfast in its business
strategies and is committed to its Environmental, Social and
Governance ("ESG") measures to ensure long term sustainability of
the Group's businesses. The Group will continue to strengthen its

ESG effort and play its vital role as a good corporate citizen.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, let me take this opportunity to extend
our heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders, business partners,
customers, and employees for your continuous support and
contribution to the Group. We are committed to delivering value

and bringing returns to all our stakeholders.

Cheung Kwan Tar

Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2020
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (5R&3Z), aged 58, is an executive Director
of our Company. He was appointed as a Director on 18 April 2018
and re-designated as an executive Director, and appointed as
the chief executive officer of our Company and the chairman of
our Board on 20 August 2018. Mr. Cheung is a member of the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of
our Company and chairman of the nomination committee (the
"Nomination Committee”) of our Company. Since September
2006, Mr. Cheung has been a director of Mannings (Asia)
Consultants Limited (“Mannings”).

Mr. Cheung is the spouse of Ms. Chiu Chui Ping, the chief
administrative officer of the Company. Mr. Cheung is also the sole
director of both Waywin Investment Holding Limited, a substantial

shareholder of the Company, and Richness Universal Limited.

Mr. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Science (Engineering) from
Queen Mary College, University of London in the United Kingdom
in August 1983. Over the years, Mr. Cheung has obtained various
professional qualifications and memberships including the

following:

Professional qualifications
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Dates of admission or appointment

EXER ASHEEBH
Fellow of the Institution of Civil Engineers 26 September 2016
TATITEMBEEREE “E-RFAAZ+TRAE
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers 8 May 2013
BETIIRMPEEREER —E-=FRANH
Fellow and Chartered Structural Engineer of the Institution of 6 October 2016

Structural Engineers
EEITIEMPEERE B MEFTEEIIIZM
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Highways and Transportation

—E-RF+ANH
9 June 2000
—EEEFNANA
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGHREEE

Mr. Ng Pak Hung (2 #878), aged 45, was appointed as a Director
on 18 April 2018 and redesignated as an executive Director on 20
August 2018. Before joining our Group, Mr. Ng has had extensive
work experience in managing various kinds of infrastructural
projects. Since August 2006, he has been an operations director of
Mannings. He was appointed as a professional assessment assessor

of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers since 2011.

Mr. Ng obtained a Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) in Civil and
Structural Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in November 1996. In November 2002, he obtained
a Master of Arts in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution (equivalent
to a Master of Laws in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution) from the
City University of Hong Kong. Over the years, Mr. Ng has obtained
various professional qualification and memberships, including the

following:

Professional qualifications
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Dates of admission or appointment

HERER ASHREMEEH
Accredited NEC3: ECC Project Manager 27 January 2016
FAINEC3 : ECCIA H 412 —E-AF-A=Z+tH
Registered Professional Engineer (Civil/Structural), 30 August 2002

Engineers Registration Board
TRAMZMERRTMERXITZM (LA 4EE)
Member of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
RFffrRE2ee 8
Member of The Institution of Structural Engineers
mEIRMmEees
Chartered Engineer of the Engineering Council, United Kingdom
KA TEZE SR IIZA
Member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
EREIEMEEES
Chartered Civil Engineer and Member of The Institution of

Civil Engineers

FAHLTAIREMEEIATIRMEEEE

1 0 Annual Report 3 2019

—EE-F)N\A=1+H

1 August 2002
—TE-_FN\HA—H

22 November 2001
—FE-F+—A=+=H
21 May 2001
—EE-FAH=-+—H
15 March 2001

T -F=H+HH

2 December 2000

—ETEFT-ACA



Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (PR f1 #R), aged 69, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 20 August 2018. He is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, member of the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) of our Company and member
of the Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for

providing independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam obtained a Bachelor of Science in
Engineering from University of Hong Kong in November 1973 and
a Master of Business Administration from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong in December 1983. He was admitted as fellow of the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers in May 2011 and is certified as
a registered professional engineer by the Engineers Registration
Board.

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion (BR B 3R), aged 64, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 20 August 2018. He
is a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee. He is primarily responsible for providing

independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion was admitted as a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong in March 1984 and has been a
partner of C.L. Chow & Macksion Chan, a law firm based in Hong
Kong, since 2001. He is a China Appointed Attesting Officer
appointed by the Ministry of Justice of China.

Since February 2013, Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion has been a non-
executive director of Oi Wah Pawnshop Credit Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1319).

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion graduated with a Bachelor of Arts in
Pure Mathematics from the University of Calgary, Canada in June
1978.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGHREEE

Mr. Chan Wan Fung (Bf & £), aged 50, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 20 August 2018. He is the
chairman of the Audit Committee. He is primarily responsible for

providing independent judgement to our Board.

In May 2011, he joined Travel Expert (Asia) Enterprises Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1235), as its
chief financial officer and from April 2012 to his resignation from
that company with effect from February 2020, he had been an

executive director of that company.

Mr. Chan Wan Fung was admitted as an associate of the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants in January 1995. In February
1997, he was admitted as an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan Wan Fung graduated with
a Bachelor of Business Administration from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong in December 1991, and a Master of Business
Administration from the University of Birmingham, United Kingdom
in July 2011.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shek Man Wah (A X #), aged 53, is the chief operating
officer of our Company and is responsible for overseeing the
execution and completion of projects undertaken by our Group. In
May 2006, he joined Mannings as an associate. Since June 2006, he
has been an operations director of Mannings.

Mr. Shek obtained a Bachelor of Applied Science in Civil
Engineering from the University of British Columbia, Canada in May
1991 and was elected as a member of the Chartered Institution of
Highways and Transportation in April 2001. He obtained a Master
of Business Administration jointly awarded by the University of New
South Wales and the University of Sydney in Australia in June 2002.

Ms. Chiu Chui Ping (# 2 $¥), aged 51, is the chief administrative
officer of our Company. Ms. Chiu is responsible for the overseeing
the human resources and administrative functions of our Group.

Since October 2005, she has been a director of Mannings.

Ms. Chiu obtained a Postgraduate Diploma in Business
Administration in March 2004 and a Master of Business
Administration in November 2005, both from the University of
Wales, Newport, United Kingdom and through long distance

learning courses.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. So William (& {2 B&), aged 48, is a senior project manager
of our Company. He is primarily responsible for managing
the execution and completion of projects undertaken by our
Group. Since September 2006 (subject to a period of absence
from November 2008 to January 2009), he has been working for
Mannings, first as a senior engineer and then promoted as a

divisional director in April 2014.

Mr. So was admitted as member of the Institution of Highways
and Transportation in April 1998, as chartered engineer of the
Engineering Council, United Kingdom in December 2002 and as
member of the Institution of Civil Engineers in July 2005. Mr. So
graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering degree from Middlesex
University in the United Kingdom in July 1993.

Mr. Lam Chi Chiu (# &), aged 50, is a senior project manager
of our Company. He is primarily responsible for managing the
execution and completion of projects undertaken by our Group.
Since September 2016, Mr. Lam has been a divisional director of

Mannings.

Mr. Lam was admitted as member of the Institution of Civil
Engineers in December 1996, as chartered engineer of the
Engineering Council on July 1997, as member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers in July 1997, and as member of the
Institution of Structural Engineers in October 1997. He was certified
as registered professional engineer in Hong Kong by Engineers
Registration Board from July 2013 to June 2014.

Mr. Lam graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong in December 1992. He also obtained
a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of London in the
United Kingdom in August 2007.

Mr. Yu Chun Kit (R #£), aged 30, is the financial controller
and company secretary of our Company. Mr. Yu joined our Group
in January 2018 as the financial controller of Mannings and was
appointed as our company secretary in April 2018. He is responsible
for the overall financial management of our Group. Mr. Yu obtained
a Bachelor of Business Administration (Hons) in Accounting &
Finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October
2011. He was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in July 2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWmED

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are an engineering consultant in Hong Kong with a focus on
the field of infrastructure developments. We have accumulated
our expertise in different branches of engineering, covering (i) civil
engineering mainly comprising road and structural engineering as

well as geotechnical engineering; and (ii) traffic engineering.

For the Year, the Group recorded a profit of approximately
HK$16.5 million as compared to the year ended 31 December 2018
during which the Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$1.4
million. The Directors are of the view that the loss for year ended
31 December 2018 was primarily due to the non-recurring Listing
Expenses amounting to approximately HK$17.8 million incurred
for the year ended 31 December 2018. Setting aside the Listing
Expenses, the Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2018
would have been approximately HK$16.4 million.

OUTLOOK

The Group always strives to improve our operation efficiency and
profitability of our business. The Group will also proactively seek
opportunities to expand our customer base and our market share
and undertake more projects which will enhance value to our

shareholders.

The net proceeds from the Share Offer will provide financial
resources to the Group to meet and achieve our business
objectives and strategies which will further strengthen the Group's

market position in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWED

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our revenue increased to approximately HK$100.7 million
for the Year by approximately HK$12.3 million or 13.9%, from
approximately HK$88.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2018. This was principally due to an increase in projects awarded

during the Year.

Cost of services

Our cost of services increased to approximately HK$58.2 million
for the Year by approximately HK$7.8 million or 15.3%, from
approximately HK$50.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2018. The increase in costs was due to the increase in the number

of technical staff.

Gross profit

Our gross profit increased to approximately HK$42.6 million for the
Year by approximately HK$4.6 million or 12.1%, from approximately
HK$38.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The increase

was due to an increase in projects awarded during the Year.

Other income

Other income and gain increased by approximately HK$0.7 million
from approximately HK$0.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2018 to approximately HK$1.3 million for the Year. The increase was

mainly due to the increase in bank interest income.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses decreased to approximately HK$23.9
million for the Year, by approximately HK$13.1 million or 35.5%,
from approximately HK37.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2018. The decrease was mainly due to non-recurring Listing
Expenses of approximately HK$17.8 million (2019: nil) incurred for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

Listing expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recognised
non-recurring Listing Expenses on an accrual basis of approximately
HK$17.8 million (2019: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREEWEE DT

DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the

dividend amount, the following will be taken into account, inter alia:
() the general financial condition of the Group;
(i) capital and debt level of the Group;

(iii) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development

needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed

by the Group's lenders;
(v) the general market conditions; and
(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
any other applicable laws, rule and regulations and amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association (the “Articles”) of
the Company. The dividend policy of the Company will be reviewed
by the Board from time to time and there can be no assurance that

a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

DIVIDEND

After taking into account the dividend policy of the Company
summarized above, the Board does not recommend the payment
of final dividend for the Year (2018: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREIwmE

gl

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed our operations primarily through cash

generated from our operating activities.

Cash and bank balances
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to HK$89.1 million (2018: HK$75.3 million).

Net current assets
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had net current assets of
HK$122.0 million (2018: HK$109.5 million).

Total equity

The equity of the Group mainly comprises share capital, share
premium and reserves. The Group's total equity attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to HK$127.2 million (2018:
HK$110.8 million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group

during the Year and up to the date of this report.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a conservative approach towards its
treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position
throughout the Year. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit
risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of
the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and other

commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2018: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREEWEE DT

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 December 2019, including our Directors, the Group had a
total of 277 employees (2018: 278).

We recognise employees as valuable assets and our success is
underpinned by our people. In line with our human resource
policies, we are committed to providing attractive remuneration
packages, and a fair and harmonious working environment to
safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of our employees.
The Group regularly reviews our human resource policies which
outline the Group’'s compensation, working hours, rest periods
and other benefits and welfare, to ensure compliance with laws
and regulations. We always place emphasis on attracting qualified
applicants by offering competitive remuneration packages. These
packages are reviewed based on employees’ performance and
reference to prevailing market conditions, and are adjusted in a

timely manner to keep them in line with market benchmarking.

In addition, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option
scheme, (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 20 August 2018 so as to

motivate, attract and retain the right employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Except on disclosed herein, the Group did not have any significant
investments during the Year and did not have any material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiary, associates or joint ventures

during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

gl

EREIwmE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL
RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital management

Our Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity

balance.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure from
time to time. As a part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of

capital.

Gearing ratio
Gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings (including payables
incurred not in our ordinary course of business) divided by the total

equity as at the respective reporting dates.

As at 31 December 2019 the Group's gearing ratio was nil (2018:

nil).
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® BEZEARBR A A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREEWEE DT

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING AND T EREAEREKBEEHERE
COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH BEE LB

ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

Up to 31 December 2019, we utilised the net proceeds raised BHEZ_Z—NLF+_A=+—H HMBRELRQ
from the Listing in accordance with the designated uses set out AR ZFE—N\FNAZ TN BFIENBRER
in the prospectus issued by the Company on 29 August 2018 (the ([HBRER|) FEETREMEBBH EMELER
"Prospectus”) as follows: Fr{SsRIBFRBuT ¢

Planned use of Actual use of
proceeds from  proceeds from
Planned use of  Listing Dateto  Listing Date to
Description proceeds 31/12/2019 31/12/2019 % utilised
tHRHE tHREE
“E-hE “E-hE
t=R=+-8A +=A=t-H
FERET HABREN  MABREN

i #Rz SEAR ERAR EBA%
HK$M HK$M HK$M
BERT BEBT AEAT

Setting up a new team specialising in the field of RV EFEFEREHNHEN

building development 321 13 103 91.2%
Strengthening our in-house team of professional £ AHZ %8 TEM AR

staff to increase our service capacity AP RG 8 ) 68 27 40 148.1%
Leasing additional office space to accommodate EEINEAEARER

our expansion 32 14 03 214%
Upgrading our information technology system to A EFRHR 24 MR R TR 860

enhance our engineering design capability 29 14 22 157.1%
Acquisition of additional motor vehicles to BEENTENEEEREX

accommodate our transportation needs 26 26 02 7.7%
Increasing our marketing effort MATGEHNE 25 14 0.2 14.3%
General working capital —HEEER 49 30 30 100%
Total Rl 5.0 238 2.2 84.9%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREWE DT

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING AND
COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH

ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS (continued)

The following table sets forth the business objectives shown in the

Prospectus as compared to the Group's actual business progress

up to 31 December 2019:

Business objectives

EBER

Implementation Plan

Bt &

IHABREARRERERERERSE
BEEZLR#E)

TREBVNBRERMREBEEREASEESZ -
E-NFT_A=Z+T—"HNEREBEE ZLLE

Actual business progress

EREBEE

Setting up a new team
specialising in the field of
building development

RIEFETFHRRRAE
) 37 8 BX

e Recruit one Registered Structural
Engineer (as defined in the
Prospectus) to review structural
plans of buildings, performing
structural inspection and
handling statutory submission to
Government (as defined in the
Prospectus) authority;

e HE—ZIMEBIREM(EER
BRER) - MR BFOEER
g ETHEBRERMABN (X
RIBRER) BEBREE XM

e  Recruit an additional Registered
Structural Engineer specifically to
review structural plans of buildings;

o R —FETMARE TR - FFI
WA BTFONEERE

e Recruit a Registered Geotechnical
Engineer (as defined in the
Prospectus) to review geotechnical
designs, perform geotechnical
inspection and handle statutory
submission to Government
authority;

e HE-—FZIMELIRM(EER
BRER) - Ul E L &eT - #
TEIREROBN (ERRBR
BiR) B REE XM

e  Recruit three building engineers
to prepare designs of building
structures;

e HE=FEFIIRM UREHE
R

The group has hired one
Registered Structural Engineer
to review structural plans of
buildings, performing structural
inspection and handling statutory
submission to authority
AEFECHEE-—SEMEBIRE
B Uimsl B FREERE - #
1TREBRE KA BT EERD
E XM

The Group has hired one
Registered Geotechnical
Engineer, one geotechnical
engineer and one geologist to
review geotechnical designs,
perform geotechnical inspection
and handle statutory submission
to Government authority
AEFECHEE—SEMeaL IR
B - —RELTRRME—2E
TR0 - Amats L akaT - #1T
AIRERAOBAEERET
XA

The Group has hired two senior
engineers and two engineers

to prepare designs of building
structures
AEBECDBEMAERIIZ R
M5 TR0 AR RIS T B R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREEWEE DT

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING AND EHRBRERAEREKBEZHERE
COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH BEEZLEE &)

ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS (continued)

Business objectives Implementation Plan
EBER Bt &

Actual business progress

ERIBEE

° Recruit three electrical and
mechanical engineers to conduct
electrical and mechanical
engineering designs;

. %FZ%& TR2AM - LAEETTH
ESRN

e Recruit three draftsmen to prepare
technical drawings and schedule
based on the design prepared by
our engineering staff;

o HE=FEERM  URBEIEA
B RS A0ERGT iR BT Bl AR R &t

I

. Recruit two architects to conduct
architectural design

o HMEMBREMETRERR

e Recruit two environment specialists
to conduct environmental impact
assessment and studies; and

s HEMAREFIENETRER
BRI R

o Recruit two administrative staff to
handle the administrative affairs in
relation to the establishment and
operation of the new team.

o HEMRBITHAE UEEFH
BN RS E B ITIREE -

22 Annual Report 3 2019

e  The Group has hired two senior
engineers, one engineer and
three assistant engineers to
conduct electrical and mechanical
engineering designs

s AEECHEMESMAKELR
A —R TR R =REETE
B AETTHE T RRSE

e  The Group has hired seven
draftsmen to prepare technical
drawings and schedule based
on the design prepared by our
engineering staff

o AKEBERELRHEM - IR
BETIZABREN RGBT
B4k K =t &l

e The Group has hired one
assistant architectural to conduct
architectural design

o AEECHE—RIIBEEME
1TIEEERRE

e The Group has hired one
environmental engineer to
conduct environmental impact
assessment and studies

e AREECHE—RBREIEMNU
EATRAR G R

e The Group has hired two
administrative staff to handle the
administrative affairs in relation to
the establishment and operation
of the new team

o AREEBECDHBEMBITHAER I
BRIE B R A BT B XA 1T
WEE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWED

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING AND
COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH

ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS (continued)

Business objectives

EXBER

Implementation Plan

i3t 8

IHABREARRERERERERSE
BEEZLR#E)

Actual business progress

EREBEE

Strengthening our in-house team
of professional staff to increase
our service capacity

EENEEXE T E K
UARR T AP BR 75 B

Leasing additional office space to
accommodate our expansion

HEBIMIRETRIRR

e Recruit four project engineers for
assisting the project manager in
the implementation of projects and
managing daily communication
with clients;

e REMBIEER TIRAMHEIIER &
BHTHEREBEEFPHNAS
B

° Recruit a project manager for
overseeing the execution of our
project;

e HME-—XREBEKLEEENRMER
HBITIBER ;

e Recruit a draftsman for preparing
technical drawings and schedule;

s HE—XZHEMBAERIUEME
IR ETE

e Recruit a marketing staff for the
coordination of our marketing
activities and promotion of our
services; and

e HE—EMSEEIEERETS
HERE REARMORE : &

e  Recruit an administrative staff for
handling administrative matters.

s HE—HITBRAEBBEREITH
£H-

e Identify and lease office
premises with gross floor area of
approximately 3,400 square feet
for accommodating our expansion.
e YEREEREMEEL3400F
REOVWAEWE - AEEEFIH
ok -

e  The Group has hired one project
engineer, three engineers and
nine assistant engineers for
overseeing the execution of our
projects, assisting the project
manager in the implementation
of projects and managing daily
communication with clients

s AEECHE-KERIEM-
=R TR R NABIE TIZED -
NEEBHRMIEB NMITIER » %
BIRAKEHITIHA RNEBER
FRIHEES

e The Group has hired two
draftsmen for preparing technical
drawings and schedule

o AEBECRIEMERERDALRR
ity B A% K 51 &

e  The Group has hired one
marketing staff for coordination
of our marketing activities and
promotion of our services

s AEBEHE-—E2MSEEIER
mEMISHEER MEARMD
AR 75

e The Group has hired one
administrative staff for handling
administrative matters

RIBTTRER

e The Group has leased an office
premises with gross floor area of
approximately 980 square feet for
accommodating our expansion;
the lease was effective on
1 January 2019

o AEECHEREMEL0F
FREPFREYZE - AL B
R ZHER T —NF—
A—BER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREEWEE DT

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING AND
COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS (continued)

Business objectives Implementation Plan

IHABREARRERERERERSE
BEEZLR#E)

Actual business progress

EBER B e 5t & BERERER
Upgrading our information e Purchase new computers e The Group has acquired 51 sets of

equipped with appropriate
software and tools for our

technology system to enhance
our engineering design

capability additional staff; and
FREMBHE R GIAR o AR¥NMEIMEFHEN Wil .

= T2 RFTRES HERMHRTA R

computers, 1 set of 3D printer and
architecture engineering software
for new and existing staff
AEBERFERRBEEIRE
S1EBMIAR1EIDITEIM K32
ETRRMM

e Upgrade computers and software

for existing staff.

e RBRBBIFRBMRIMLE-

Acquisition of additional motor o
BEIWAE

vehicles to accommodate our °
transportation needs

BERINTEAEEERFT K

Increasing our marketing effort e  Strengthen our marketing
AR5 E N E activities.

o IMRIMIMTIZEHEH

The net proceeds from the Listing, after deducting related
expenses, were approximately HK$55.2 million. After the Listing,
a part of these proceeds has been applied in accordance with the
future plans and use of proceeds as set out in the Prospectus. The
business objectives, future plans and planned use of proceeds as
stated in the Prospectus were based on the best estimation and
assumption of future market conditions made by the Group at the
time of preparing the Prospectus while the proceeds were applied
based on the actual development of the Group'’s business and the

industry.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR

The Group had no significant events from the end of the Year to

the date of this report.
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Acquisition of three motor vesicles e

e  The Group has upgraded the
company server, computers and
software for existing staff

s AEEERBEBABINRAAMR
Has - B R R

The Group has acquired one
motor vehicle

s AEEEBE-—WAE

e The Group has engaged a public
relations company

s ARTFCEEF-—HABIA

LSRR (R R) X/85528
BAETL LM BoREMEFRHEEREBRK
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AR BRERNER B - KRS RAAEHIA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

INTRODUCTION

Throughout our years of operation and development, Boltek
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the "Group", "we" or "our")
have adhered to our business philosophy of Corporate Social
Responsibility (“CSR"). This report is prepared with reference to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “"ESG
Reporting Guide"”) under Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”). Since its establishment, the
Group has striven to provide engineering consultancy services
ethically and professionally. To foster sustainability, the Group also
encourages environmental protection, makes positive contributions
and creates long-term value in the community. During the reporting
period, the Group committed itself to improving standards of CSR,
and complied strictly with the requirements of laws and regulations
on ESG reporting.

Unless otherwise specified, this report covers our ESG progress and
performance from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019, focusing
on the core business of the Group, the provision of engineering
consultancy services.

The Group is an engineering consultant based in Hong Kong with
a focus on the field of infrastructure development. To meet the
increasingly demanding requirements of engineering consultancy
services in the various kinds of infrastructure development,
the Group has accumulated expertise in different branches of
engineering, notably road and structural engineering, geotechnical
engineering and traffic engineering.

Ethics
B

Moving Forward

BRIRIK

Sustainability
AIRE R

Community Involvement
fad =3

Operating Practices
SEED

HE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERRE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT FhhESH

Identifying and understanding stakeholders is indispensable to A RSB FFHEL A FERREMS TR o
sustainable development. Continuous communication with our B F N ERFBEBEHHRMIEL NG RT - WHE
stakeholders enables us to make informed decisions and accurately ~ FEHIFI (B EBARMELFE - TRIIHAEE
assess the potential impact of our business decisions. The table 89357 & LA M alt T 1698 18 K [o] FE ¥8 i o
below lists the Group's stakeholders, and outlines our efforts in

communication and response.

Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication

&4 R EREOE BERGE

Investors e Shareholders e Corporate website

REE o BRE o RNEMIL
e Potential investors e Annual and interim financial reports
o BEKREE o FERPHMBRE

e Quarterly reports and announcement
o FEHRENAM

e Annual general meetings

o RREBFEXRE

e Disclosure of listed information

. BEFWER

Employees e Senior management e Direct communication
(== s BREERE o HEAR
o Staff e Training and seminars
e« BT o IR E
e Potential recruits e Face-to-face meetings
o BHEMESR s HMEEEHK

e Independent focus groups and
interviews

o B HIE/NEREH

e CSR and volunteering activities

s BPEHEEERERELD
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued) K ESRE
Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication
o EAR BEREOE BBELE
Customers e Government authority e Customer assessment
5P o HUTHRE o EPFHA

o Highways Department e Periodical progress meeting

o BHKFE s THERESE

o Transport Department

o EHZE

o Civil Engineering and Development

Department

o ITARIRHEE

o Water Supplies Department

o KKE

o Drainage Services Department

o RBE

Suppliers
e

Government and Regulators

BT R EEHE

e Construction contractor

o BEAER

e Property developer

o MEELREN

e Public transportation corporation
o RIEHANT]

e Architectural firm

o REZWA

e Sub-contractors * Sub-contractor assessment
s DEH o BB

e Daily work review

o BHIER

e Site inspection

o IERARE

® Meeting with sub-contractors
s EROBEHE

e Local governments e Written correspondence

o NAEBHF o EHEEA

e Regulators e Statutory reports and general
o EEHE disclosure

o EEBEN—MREE
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

To ensure that this report addresses the issues that are critical to
the Group and significant to our stakeholders, we have conducted a
materiality assessment on the Group’s CSR agenda. This will help us
identify areas for improvement in our CSR work, and enable more
comprehensive, transparent and specific responses, enhancing the

quality of the annual report.

ETHICS

As one of the leading engineering consultants in Hong Kong, we
believe that a high standard of ethics and corporate governance
plays an essential role in the sustainable development of our
business. Our compliance manual sets out standards in a range
of ethical issues that we always require our employees to meet,
including anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-discrimination, privacy

protection and data protection.

Additionally, a whistleblowing policy has been established,
encouraging employees to raise concerns, in confidence, about
misconduct, malpractice or irregularities in any matters related
to the Group. This can help maintain a high standard of integrity,

openness, probity and accountability within the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Emissions

"Global Warming”, "Extreme Weather” and "Rising Sea-Levels”
have become matters of growing concern in the world. To protect
the environment, the Group strives to take action to combat climate
change, by minimising air and greenhouse gas emissions, and non-

hazardous waste generation.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) RIBERE#E)
Emissions (continued) By (&)
Green Design EERE

Although the environmental emissions impact of the Group is @EARNEEHIRFEROBERTZEE /) - BIBEH
insignificant, the Group is still committed to take effective measures — FRARBE 2 KOEAR - AN B0 HEUE U i
for environmental protection and the sustainable development of ~ LAREIRIBRERMTENAFELERE -

society, based on the relevant emission laws and regulations.

Air emissions from vehicles U= E=¥ )= 3287 3¢
Unit FY2019 FY2018
B ZE-NAME —ZT—)\¥F
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) RELY (NOY) gram 7% 3,517.25 1,135.22
Sulphur Oxides (SO) HE(EY) (SO gram 52, 75.28 15.42
Respiratory Suspended Particles (PM) A IR AR T (PM) gram %, 258.97 83.58
Greenhouse gas emissions R RS HERL
Unit FY2019 FY2018
By “E-AMEF —E-\WF
Direct emissions (Scope 1): BEEEEM(EET)
- GHG emissions from mobile —REBHREIRD CO, Z&1bhx tonne M 12.19 2.48
combustion sources RERBHR CH, Fr kg T 11.72 5.57
NO—&t=A kgT= 527.71 359.43
Indirect emissions (Scope 2): IR (HE2) :
— Electricity purchased from CLP -BFEEEMNEN  CO,Z&fkix tonne I 77.86 88.95
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3): Hib iz (8E3)
- Paper waste disposals —BRRE CO, &1k tonne A 25.54 23.94
— Electricity used for processing ~BRSMEBEAKE  CO, & bk kg T5 158.27 433.22*
fresh water and sewage by HKFARNEN
government departments
Business air travel by employees BB =R EBKIT
— Emissions from air travel —EHRIRITEENHER  CO, =&k tonne M 6.57 -

* The revised figure in recalculating the emission factors adjustments set forth in * BAREFTEH WA FAERNKETH8FTENEFBRE -

its petition.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Emissions (continued)

Green Design (continued)

One of our major sources of emissions is carbon emissions from the
consumption of unleaded petrol, electricity and paper. Throughout
the year, we used Shell FuelSave unleaded petrol for all motor
vehicles. This promotes energy efficiency, helping to clean up
injector deposits in engines and providing better fuel economy
and, when needed, more load-pulling power. According to testing
results from Shell, deposit-related power loss is less, and the fuel
injector is cleaner when this type of petrol is used. Therefore, using
Shell FuelSave unleaded petrol continuously not only helps reduce
operating costs, but also protects the environment through lower

fuel usage.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not receive
any notice of non-compliance in relation to any pollution ordinance
or regulations, such as the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.
311) and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354).

Reducing Waste and Promoting Recycling

Due to the nature of our business, no significant hazardous waste
was generated in the year ended 31 December 2019. From our
daily operations as an engineering consultant, paper waste was
inevitable; we accumulated 5.32 tonnes during the year. Although
paper waste does not directly produce any hazardous substance, it
can generate CO; indirectly when disposed of, resulting in adverse
impact on the environment (global warming). In order to promote
environmental sustainability, we encourage our staff to use duplex
printing as default mode on all printers. In addition, we also place
a box next to all printers for collecting recycling paper, to reduce

unnecessary paper waste.

Use of Resources

To ensure an environment-friendly working environment, we have
familiarised our staff with green policy to raise their awareness
of environmental protection, and established energy-efficient
practices to fully utilise resources and reduce energy consumption

in our head office.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

Energy Saving

We have instructed our staff to switch off lights, air-conditioners
and all other electronic devices when they leave the office or when
these are not in use. At the same time, we have also encouraged
our staff to set indoor air-conditioning temperatures to an

environment-friendly level, of around 25C.

RIGRE (2

ERER ()

HigE
AMERETEREBAZTHTEAES -

7o
J\__E

K P A E A E TR AR L BIRA - B RIS - 3
FTrEEE TR EANZFREREECTELEN

RIRIKF o

Electricity consumption during the year FEXNFEISH
Unit FY2019 FY2018
By —E-NBF — N\
Total electricity consumption BHE= kWh F FLBF 123,589 141,190
Electricity usage intensity (kWh/Staff) RAEZE (TRE,/BI) kWh TR 966 1,284
Water Management FAKER
In our business, we only provide engineering consultancy services — EA ST - 5 FHE M BT R A EEIIEH TR

to the government and contractors, and this does not involve any
water resource consumption. Water is only used in our head office,

for toilet flushing.

BERERTS - MAED REMKERBERE - KE
EERR AR RREAER -

Water consumption during the year ERFKIER
Unit FY2019 FY2018
By —E-NEBEFE —T-)\UF
Total water consumption* BRAKE* m? 37 73 K 291 868
Water consumption intensity (KkWh/Staff)  F/KZE (FTEEET) m*y XK 2.27 7.89

* Water consumption from our office in Winning Commercial Building is based

on the latest available data, which covered from 1 January 2019 to 7 November
2019. Therefore, the total consumption for the year is proportionate, calculated
based on average daily consumption data shown on the bills from the Water

Supplies Department in 2019.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Environmental and natural resources are essential for the world’s
sustainable development. Although the daily business of the Group
may not have seriously adverse effects on the environment, the
Group also provides practical tips and guidelines to employees to

minimise environmental impact.

* HPRNEBARRNENORRENRKEDERSZHARF
WS ZBBEERE_FT-NAF-A-BE-_F—h
Fr—AtH- Bt 2FN@RKEDRBKEE -
F-NFRHNRE LRTATEE A RKEIERZL

Y-
RIEBERXAER

REMARAREREUANABELREFEE -

BEARENAERBAETSHRBENEE

THEE BAKETREEREERZRRE
5 UBRERIVHERENTE -
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES

Employment

Because of our reliance on in-house engineers, employees are
one of the most valuable assets of the Group. To attract more
talent and retain existing employees, we take a comprehensive
approach in recruitment, employment and promotion, with
attractive remuneration packages and benefits for our employees.
We advocate a community spirit that thrives on mutual respect and
equality, through compliance with equal opportunities legislation,
such as the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Race Discrimination
Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance and Family Status

Discrimination Ordinance.

To ensure diversity and equality, we have set up a recruitment
policy for selecting suitable talent. Our recruitment process is non-
discriminatory, and is based solely on employees’ performance,
experience and skills. In addition to a fair recruitment process, we
also encourage our junior staff to follow the senior staff to engage
with public consultations to gain more practical experience, which
could be beneficial to their career development and improve
the Group's competitive advantage. Appraisals are performed
annually for employees, with appropriate salary adjustments
and promotions. The Group complies strictly with all laws and
regulations relevant to the Ordinances mentioned above, and does

not engage in any forced or child labour.

Furthermore, we have an internship policy that attracts new talent
to join us when they graduate, by referral from either employees or
universities. In particular, not only the Year 3 university students are
welcomed to join our internship programme; we also encourage
Year 1 or Year 2 students to join us, so that we can provide them
with an opportunity to get into the industry and join society earlier.
The internship programme offers the students full-time training
during their summer vacation, helping them obtain as much
valuable work experience as possible, and gain a great sense of
achievement as well. The programme gives them engineering
experience before graduation, and increased their confidence
about committing themselves to the engineering industry in future.
For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not receive
any notice of non-compliance in relation to employment, labour

laws and regulations.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued) BERSZIERE)
Employment (continued) EE &)
Staff Composition EIER

As at 31 December 2019, we employed a total of 128 staff (exclude HRZZE—NAF+-_A=+—8 HMEREH
the resident site staff), all in Hong Kong. Due to the nature of our 128 B8 T (TEEHMB/AE) - HREBITIE-
business, males make up a very high proportion within the Group. MREBHEE  AEERSHER LA -

By Gender By Employrrlent Category
gk lEPa) rIEBERE D
15%

50% . Senior level
=%

[R]A

28%

.Female

ik
.Entry level
AR
.I\/Iale
St @ viddie level

AR

22%
By Age Group
REERARE D

>60 — - 10
5160 — .6

41-50 — 23

2130 - T
<20 — I 3
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued) EBERSIERZ)
Employment (continued) 3162,
Staff Turnover BIR%

The Group had a turnover rate of 24% during the year, totalling RFR  NEBEME TRAEF24%  H£EF314
31 permanent employees (excluding the resident site staff and KHEE (TEREHMBEABREEE) - FR
the summer interns). The turnover rate by gender was relatively &M RIE 5 E TRAXREH FE R85
balanced in the year, at around 24% (male) and 26% (female)  24% (51%) K 26% (22 1E) o =PRI - F B &
respectively. Details of turnover by gender, age group and HEEDHE TRKEREALNT -

geographical region are summarised as follows:

By Gender 152 5
Turnover Rate d
ik 26
g =
Male EE)3 24%
Female Z 26% -
By Geographical Region == £ 5
Turnover Rate
WKk =
Hong Kong BH 24%
Others Hb 0%
By Age Group 1 F A 5 & 5
Turnover Rate <60 — I 1
AR E
51-60 - 1
BT 0
< 20 years old 20% AI 0% as0- e
21 - 30 years old 21 -307% 34%
31 -40 years old 31-4075% 21%  31.40 - - 5
41 - 50 years old 41 - 505% 13%
5160 years old 51-60%% 17%  21-30 - -
> 60 years old 60BR A | 10% <20- 0
0 5 10 15 20
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Employment (continued)

Staff Welfare

We strictly follow labour legislation and provide a comprehensive
leave package to employees, covering sickness, casual, marriage,
funeral, maternity, annual and injury leave, as well as statutory
holidays. Working overtime is not advocated in our Group, but
if it is necessary, employees are provided with an overtime meal
allowance. We also provide an annual dinner and company trip for
all staff annually.

All our staff including enjoyed the night together for celebrating
our company’s annual dinner in January 2019. We appreciated all
the effort devoted by all our staff in the past year. We will continue
to maintain our momentum for developing another great and fruit
year.

In October 2019, we organised a 4-day trip to Taipei and Yilan,
Taiwan inviting all our staff and their families. Other than the
company trip, the Group also hosts a Christmas party for staff.
Welfare provisions cover all employees, enrich the variety of
corporate cultural activities, and increase the sense of belonging
among employees.

On top of the basic social insurance program, the Group also
provides the following benefits,

Group medical coverage (extends to an employee’s spouse)
Education allowances for work-related training
Allowances for job-related membership registration

For example, The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers (the
"HKIE"), Institution of Civil Engineers (the "ICE"), The
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (the “ClArb"”), The Chartered
Institution of Highways and Transportation (the "CIHT") and
The Association of Consulting Engineers of Hong Kong (the
“ACEHK")

Health and Safety

Health and safety are integral to our Group. We always emphasise
that safety is our top priority. To ensure that all employees are
aware of occupational health and safety issues, we encourage them
to participate in job-related safety training courses provided by the
HKIE, on an employer-reimbursement basis.

During the year, the Group did not receive any notice of non-
compliance in relation to health and safety legislation and
regulations, and there were zero cases of either work injury or job-
related fatality.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Development and Training

Regarding the nature of our business, human capital is treated
as one of the most vital elements for the Group's long-term
development. We believe we can retain talented individuals by
providing training to employees, so they develop their careers with
us. During the reporting period, we launched a variety of training
programs for our staff, assisting them to get the latest news and

knowledge about their profession.

Our in-house training covers a wide range of subjects, including
safety and different kinds of engineering field (e.g. structures,
waterworks, roadworks, site formation, traffic and geotechnical
work). During the reporting period, we offered different courses
related to different engineering knowledge for all levels of staff.
We also offered training on how to use the Midas Civil system, an
integrated solution system for bridge and civil engineering, helping
engineers to produce high-quality designs with unprecedented

levels of efficiency and accuracy.

In addition to in-house training, we encourage our staff to join job-
related training provided by external associations: for example,
the safety training courses and geotechnical workshop provided
by HKIE during the year. In particular, we supported several
graduate engineers to take a structured training scheme, “the
HKIE Scheme ‘A" Graduate Training (Scheme “A"), which held by
the HKIE. The Scheme "A" is considered as an important stage in
the development from a graduate to a professional engineer. The
employees gave positive feedback of the training as it helped them

to apply the theoretical knowledge in practical tasks.

During the year, the percentages of permanent employees
participating in training were, by gender, 39% (male) and 29%
(female), with average training duration at approximately 8.2
hours and 9.9 hours respectively. The percentages of employees
participating in training for senior-, middle- and entry-level staff
were 9%, 12% and 62% respectively. The Group values employees’
self-development. To ensure equality of training opportunity, we
offered different training courses for different levels of staff. The
average durations of training activities for each of these employee

categories were 6.3, 7.2 and 8.6 hours respectively.
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OPERATING PRACTICES

Supply Chain Management

Sub-contractors are indispensable to our business and operations,
contributing significantly to our success in the pursuit of quality
excellence and crucial in enhancing our brand reputation. We
strictly monitor our sub-contractors’ performance through
occasional meetings, and the daily deliverables received from site

offices can also help us to assess their work performance.

Due to the nature of our business, most of our sub-contractors were
from Hong Kong, while only 1 of them was from Europe, the United
Kingdom.
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HEEEEE
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Wik EEmEEHERER - TR HFIN
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ERHMNEHEED  RANAB D EERE
BR MEE—2HBRAKEEN  BREHEE -

Number of Sub-contractors by Region
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1

Hong Kong
N
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Product Responsibility

Service quality is a key factor in our business operations and
reputation. A complaint-handling policy has been set up as a
guideline for dealing with complaints. A hotline number is posted
on the Group's website for public consultation regarding the
services we provide and the projects we are carrying out. We keep
an open mind in dealing with all complaints, whether or not they
are justified. The Group has obtained ISO9001:2015 certification
from Fugro Certification Services Limited in Hong Kong, in
recognition of providing a high standard of quality management in

the provision of consultancy services.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Product Responsibility (continued)
Additionally, a declaration of confidentiality is signed and attached

with the contract to ensure consumer data and privacy protection.

In sum, the Group did not receive any complaint during the
year, and there were no cases of non-compliance with laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group in terms of

the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.

FUGRO CERTIFICATION SERVICES LIMITED

Certificate No. : Q0019

T

SEES (@)

EmEE#E)

SEAN - EURBENENT A RBNRETE
B UERREEEENBIELENL -

S NEERFALEEZEEMRE  TE

EHHAEEERBAER (LR KHBEX
FENBERERERNER -

fase

MANAGEMENT SYSTEM CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that

Mannings (Asia) Consultants Ltd.

at
SIF, Winning Commercial Building, 46 - 48 Hilwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowioon, Hong Kong

'has been found to conform to the Quality Management System Standard:

1SO 9001:2015

This certificate is valid for the following scope of certif

SERVICES LIMITED

Place and Date
Hong Kong, 9 July 2018

s

Joseph Poon
Certfication Manager

Original Certication Date : 25 July 2008

Anti-corruption

To maintain a high standard of integrity, openness, probity and
accountability, we comply strictly with the anti-corruption policy.
Conflicts of interest, privacy and confidentiality of information
and prevention of bribery are all covered in our Internal Control
Manual and Compliance Manual. A whistleblowing policy has also
been applied to all employees and related third parties who deal
with the Group, under which they report any misconduct, fraud
or irregularities. All employees at senior management level are
required to sign declarations of confidentiality and of conflict of
interest, to affirm the integrity and best interests of the Group. As
at 31 December 2019, there were no legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or the employees, such as the

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong.

38 Annual Report 3 2019

REFSRENHE RN RRELREE R
AR BT REFBR - WA RS F M R a
MFMAREBBNDER  BLEEREA
KFTIEERE T EME A - 28R E MEAEER
SHEE =D I IR R REE - ABREM
TETR BFHERTR -REREEERS
MATEREMS  REHAREREBELMAEER
BHE  UEIALEENHERKENSE - R
Z-NFT+RA=+—H HEHEEKESES
REEMBEBERTARERREMS (MBFEM L
BREE D)



Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

Not only do we focus on business matters, we also do our best
to become a socially responsible corporate citizen, through deep
involvement in the community, giving back to society and creating

shared benefits for the communities we serve.

Donations

During the year, the Group donated a total of HK$152,000 to
community causes, including the elderly, orphans, education,
patients and low-income earners. The Group donated HK$50,000
to support Tung Wah Charity Gala 2019 which was organized by
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals, to raise funds for the development

of medical, education and community services.

This year, we continued keeping in touch with social affairs and
do our best to become a socially responsible corporate citizen. In
particular, we donated the "Lifewire Run 2019 — Shing Mun River”
and encouraged employees to participate in the event held on
10 November 2019. This event, held by the Lifewire Foundation
Limited, was intended to support the children suffered in rare
diseases. We hope we can help support the children continue their
lives and relieve the economic difficulties of their family by our

donations.

HtE2H

BAMERIXBERR  TERAB IR ST
SRENGE AAZEHR DEHE YHE
BFRBRLERAERZ M

B

RER AEERAMESE (BREE MR-

HE mARBERAAL) & HIBFR152,0008 7T
REEBRE 50,000;%7‘5§%EE$§—F§5%%$E’NEK
LMREN9|ZEZHREG EEETHRE

HE LR RE -

AEE  RAEEZVRILEEHLBAKS
EAH@EIRMNEEAR - FHl2 - BRAIAI =
E-NEEBR-WBFITIELBRE  AxBREE
SERN_T-NF+-ATEETNESE -ZE
EHEBREZESARARER  EEXH
BEFARRNRE -RAFLEBREELEEY
M RERBLE R WRE R EL R E

Charitable Donations in 2019

1J:\:u +4

2019 FRBER/AK

Religion

R=EED

0%

Health
1%

Low-income earner
EWAALRE
2%

Education

#E
16%
Elderly caring
REBE
0%

Orphan caring
M5 e
A1%
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)
Sponsorship

In addition to our involvement in donation activities, we sponsored
several events in the elderly care, cultural promotion and social
harmony fields. In particular, we are one of the platinum sponsors
of the Institution of Civil Engineers Hong Kong Association to
organise an annual conference which was held on 26 April 2019.
As the occurrence of notable project incidents of some civil
engineering infrastructures has raised public concern recently. It
alerted the profession to reconsider what strategies and measures
professional engineers should implement to better manage the
risks of our projects. The experts from the many strands of our
construction industry shared their insights in the theme.

MOVING FORWARD

With green design still a hot topic, we will continue our
commitment to environmental protection, and control of emissions,
energy consumption and paper waste during our daily operations,
to pave the way for sustainable development. To reach a higher
standard of CSR, we will continue to make positive contributions

and create long-term value for the community.
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY REAME
Environmental Performance RIBRE
Emissions Data from Vehicles: HEHEHRI LR -
Unit 2019 2018
B —E-NF —E-)\F
Nitrogen Oxides (NOy) A8ty gram %%, 3,517.25 1,135.22
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) wmaly gram 5% 75.28 15.42
Respiratory Suspended Particles (PM) ST R gram 7%, 258.97 83.58
GHG Direct Emissions (Scope 1): REREEE (FET) -
Unit 2019 2018
B ZE-NF —E-)N\F
Emissions from stationary combustion 2K B [& &R A BE K CO; tonne M& - -
sources CH, tonne M - -
N.O tonne M& - -
Emissions from mobile combustion KB BRABER CO, tonne M 12.19 2.48
sources CH, kg T3 11.72 5.57
N,O kg T 527.71 359.43
GHG Indirect Emissions: i 2 R I HERL
Unit 2019 2018
B 2019 2018 4F
Scope 2 #HE2
— Electricity purchased from CLP —mPEBERN CO;, tonne A 77.86 88.95
ESW)
Scope 3 #[#3
— Paper waste disposals —REEAR B IR CO; tonne MA 25.54 23.94
— Electricity used for processing fresh — BT AP B IR CO, kg T7 117.53 244.86
water by governance department HRIKFTAE N
— Electricity used for sewage by — B EBPI R IR CO, kg T 40.74 188.36
government department JIKFTAE AN
Business air travel by employees BEMNZRBEBIRT CO; tonne MA 6.57 -
— Emissions from air travel —ZERIRITEER
ek
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued)

Environmental Performance (continued)

REBE#)
REXRR (&)

Waste Disposals: EEYEE -
Unit 2019 2018
B —E-NF —E-)\F
Hazardous waste disposal EEEEVEE tonne M# - -
Non-hazardous waste disposal BEEEVRE
— Paper waste —EAR tonne M# 5.32 4.99

* The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best

approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2018.

© ERBCEMOHENERRMBRE-T-AETA

=+ —HABNRELOBRREIE -

Energy Consumption: BEJF A FE -

Unit 2019 2018

B —E-nF —E—)\F
Electricity used for the year FANEES kWh F FL B 123,589 141,190
Per employee BREER kWh T B 966 1,284
Water Consumption: FEKE -

Unit 2019 2018

1y —E-hE T N\E
Water used for the year FRNFEKE m3 37 J3 K 291 868
Per employee BHES m? 37 73 K 2.27 7.89

* The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best

approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2019.
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued)

Social Responsibility Performance - Employment Practice

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

REBE#)

HEBEERR-ERER

As at 31 As at 31
Dec 2019 Dec 2018
R» S
—E-NF —T-N\F
Total Workforce EBEEH Unit +=A +=A
(exclude the resident site staff) (T EERBBAE) B =+—H =+—H
By employment type REMBERZ D
Full-time £l no. of people A X 128 109
Part-time e bk no. of people A & 0 1
By gender R B & 5
Male St no. of people AL 109 94
Female % no. of people AL 19 16
By age group RERARE D
< 20 years old 2050 AR no. of people A & 3 0
21 -30years old 21-30%% no. of people AL 62 58
31 -40years old 31-40%% no. of people AL 24 18
41 -50 years old 41 - 50 7% no. of people A £ 23 19
51— 60 years old 51 -607% no. of people A £X 6 5
> 60 years old 0B A L no. of people A 10 10
By geographical region RLES S
Hong Kong aBn no. of people A £t 128 110
Others Efh no. of people AL 0 0
By employee category REEERE S
Senior Level = A& no. of people A £t 28 26
Middle Level R no. of people AL 36 36
Entry Level IES no. of people A 64 48
Contract/Short-term staff &R/ EHT no. of people AL 0 0
Unit 2019 2018
Occupational Health and Safety BERREZD By Z—ZZ—h#E —ZE-)\F
Work-related Fatalities EIEFERMNET
Number of cases ESLS Qe no. of people A £ 0 0
Fatality rate T E % Bt 0% 0%
Work Injury I
Number of lost days BERIIEAE no. of days B & 0 0
Number of reported accidents WMESWHEE no. of cases =& 0 0
Injury rate ITEHE=X % Bt 0% 0%

*

The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best

approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2019.

* PRE{EMNAEDERRMBE_F—NF+=A
=t HASHRENHRRE -

Annual Report 3 2019

43




Boltek Holdings Limited ® BEZEARBR A A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERRE

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued)

Social Responsibility Performance - Employment Practice

REBE#)
HEBEERBR-ERERE)

(continued))

Employee Turnover EERK

(exclude the resident site staff (TEFEHBAER Unit 2019 2018
and the summer interns) BEHE) By Z—ZE—h#F —E-N\F
By gender 3B

Male St % BNt 24% 17%
Female gk % BDL 26% 16%
By age group RERARE D

< 20 years old 20 AT % B0t 0% 0%
21 - 30 years old 21-307% % B0t 34% 22%
3140 years old 31 -40%% % BNt 21% 18%
41 - 50 years old 41 -507% % B0t 13% 10%
51— 60 years old 51 -607% % BNt 17% 0%
> 60 years old 60RRIA £ % Bt 10% 0%
By geographical region R EE 5

Hong Kong BE % BNt 24% 17%
Others HAh % Btk 0% 0%
Percentage of Permanent FIzREHAEE Unit 2019 2018
Employees Trained ERald By Z—ZZ—h#E —ZE-)\F
By gender RIER 8D

Male St % BN 39% 42%
Female Z % % B 29% 32%
By employee category REEERE S

Senior Level (ST % AN 9% 14%
Middle Level AR % AN 12% 16%
Entry Level RN % B 62% 73%
Contract/Short-term staff &R/ EET % B ot 0% 0%
Average Training Hours per BERBEEN Unit 2019 2018
Permanent Employee 15 1% 31 B By Z—ZT—hF —ZE-)\F
By gender RERE S

Male S hours /N 8.2 7.7
Female Z hours /N 9.9 3.2
By employee category RESERNE S

Senior Level AR hours /N 6.3 5.5
Middle Level H R hours /N 7.2 6.4
Entry Level U hours /N 8.6 7.4
Contract/Short-term staff AR/ =T hours /]NE 0 0

*

The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best

approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2019.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX

This report is prepared in accordance with the "Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” under Appendix 20 to
the GEM Listing Rules. The following tables provide an overview
of the general disclosures and key performance indicators (“"KPlIs")
of various aspects under each subject area, which are either cross-
referenced to the relevant chapters of the Report or supplement

the Report with additional information.

RiR - HEREERARES

A& TR IECGEM LT AR RID K 8% 20 W GRIE -
HeREBMERIDHEE - TRBMANHRE S
TEHBEETTREmS —RKE N ERERE
RERERIER]) UHINBEHBEHESR
Z B SARH I

Description Reference Remark
i 2Z ik
A. ENVIRONMENTAL
AR
Aspect A1: Emissions
EBEAT : SR
General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Environmental F28BEEFE3NA
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have a Protection
—RRBEE significant impact on the issuer relating to air and IRIRIRE
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
BRERIOAERBYR - MKRLHOHES A
ENEEBEZEYVNELESH - @BR  Mb)EST
HEBETABEAXENHBEEELROINER -
KPI' A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions Performance F41 8
BB AE RUE R data. Summary
A1.1 PR E R R AR BB - RIRGE
KPI'A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) Performance FA41E
R E RS and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of Summary
A1.2 production volume, per facility). RIEHE
BERBALENE CAMAE) X (ER) BE (18
NBESEM BHERBAH)
KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, N/A No hazardous waste
R EBIEE where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of NEMA produced in the reporting
A1.3 production volume, per facility). period.
FEXEEEEWEE (UMEAE) R (NER)® REREHETREERS
E(WMABESEN  BERETE) - REZEY)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE HEREARABRERS (&)
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description Reference Remark
it 2E e
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Performance F428
R AT and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of Summary

Al4 production volume, per facility). KIEME

EABEZEZMAE (UEAE) X (ER) &
B (MABES BN - BERETE) -

KPIA1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and ~ Environmental FBEEEINE
BB 4B IR R results achieved. Protection
A15 R KB E R M FTISACR o RIBIRE
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous Reducing Waste ~ %308
AR ENIBIE wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results and Promoting
Al.6 achieved. Recycling
RMAREEELRBTEEYNT L REEENE ROBERYREE
T M PTG RCR (o] i A1 A

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EBEA2 : EREMA

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including ~ Use of Resources S 30BEHE31 8
Disclosure energy, water and other raw materials. EIR{E A
—RWEE BEREREIR (BIEER K REMERME) #IBCR o
KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type  Performance F4E
B E N IEIE (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and Summary
A2.1 intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per RIRGE
facility)

RENESWER R SEEER(INE - |30h)
wREE UTETERFE) REE (WABEESE
i - BERBHE) -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per Performance F428
AR AR RIE IS unit of production volume, per facility) Summary
A22 BRRERTE (WASESEN SERBHE) - RRBE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

BRE #HERER

BRI (&)

Description Reference Remark
it 2E b
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and ~ Energy Saving £318
BB 4B R R results achieved. Hi AE
A2.3 R BEIR(E A st BI P IS AR ©
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing  Water F3E
R EBUIER water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency Management
A2.4 initiatives and results achieved. AKER
SR EGE A KR E R A ERIERE - AR AKX
M st 8l RFTFHRR °
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products  N/A No packaging material
AR ENIEIE (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per 1~ iE A used for finished products
A2.5 unit produced. during the year.

SIS B B R 8 B OANEE E) R (@)
SRR -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EHEA3: RERRAER

General

Disclosure
— M=

KPI A3.1
FARAE B TR
A3.1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact
on the environment and natural resources.

WEBITAHRBERRABERERERTENEE

Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

M EB RS EHIRBRARERNE AT,
EREBEEHETZENTH -

dig

B

I

Environmental

Protection
BHRE

The Environment
and Natural

Resources

REMRAAER

T ¥R & B ] 3 8t BLAK A
EReEME -

£318
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description

i

BRE #HERER

Reference

2%

BR5| @)

Remark

i

B. EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

B.ERREIESR

Aspect B1: Employment

EmEB1 : EfE

General

Disclosure
— R

KPI B1.1
RSB ERUEIR
B1.1

KPI B1.2
BRI UE R
B1.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer.

B @QBR: ROETHETABEAZEN
MEER LR DI EF -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age
group and geographical region.

IR EERL FiARN MtEBI DM EE R -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

RIER - FRAR MR DWEBRKLE -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BHEB2: @EHEZ:

KPI B2.1
PR 4B IR IR
B2.1

KPI B2.2
PR AE IR IR
B2.2

KPI B2.3
B AE B R
B2.3

Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

RITEREMET AR X -

Lost days due to work injury.

HIGEEAIIERE -

Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

H PSRN R R R E L 255 - A RBEERT
RERITE -
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Employment and
Labour Practices

BIERSTER

Staff Composition

B THEK

Staff Turnover
BTk

N/A

N/A

Health and Safety

RS

£338

$34H

There were no work-
related fatalities during the
year.
FAIEETIEBETE
T o

There was no work injury

during the year.
FRLELE -

%358
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CHERER

BR5| @)

CONTENT INDEX (continued)
Description Reference Remark
it 2% b
Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EEB3 : & KIFI
General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and Developmentand %36 B
Disclosure skills for discharging duties at work. Description of Training
—REE training activities. BRERE
ERRAEERT LEBENME LR HER -
IR FDEE ©
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender Performance F44 8
R AT and employee category. Summary
B3.1 BRURIREEEMNEADHXIEEETD L ° KA
KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per Performance F448
AR AR RIB IS employee by gender and employee category. Summary
B3.2 RUERNNREEERE D BREETKZINTE KA

8K

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EME B4 : % T%H|

General

Disclosure

— R

KPI B4.1
RARE R R
B4.1

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer.

BH: @EX: RO BETHETABEAZEN
HBERE RO ER -

Description of measures to review employment

practices to avoid child and forced labour.

$8 0 4 2 R 1 O A B TR B 15 T

Employment and

Labour Practices

BENMSTER

N/A

There were no no-
compliance cases
regarding child and forced
labour.
WEABET K& T
HEREMS -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE HEREARABRERS (&)
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description Reference Remark
it 2E e
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such N/A
RASR 4B I 1E practices when discovered. iE B

B4.2 A EETERBERR BN G BIBE AR 2 -

B. OPERATING PRACTICES

B. & ZE &l

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EMEB5 : e EE

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks  Supply Chain F378
Disclosure of the supply chain. Management
— MR R ERMHEENREREGRARBUR HEwE R
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain F3I7E
BA B2 48 RUIRAR mriwRE D HERHEE - Management
B5.1 g e g
KPIB5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain £378
AR B IR suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices Management
B5.2 are being implemented, and how they are e

implemented and monitored.
il AR AMHERNED  mEARTEBIENRN
HEREE  URBFBEINRITRERTE-

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EEBs: EmEME

General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance ~ Product EIIBEEEI/E
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have a Responsibility
—BEE significant impact on the issuer. EmAE

B @BE: Kb BTHETABEATZEN
HEERMBRBIER

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Product FIIEEFEIBE
BB HE IR R subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. Responsibility
B6.1 EESEEXEmGESTEL2MERERMA EmEM
ERENIERSN:
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CONTENT INDEX (continued)
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CHERER

BR5| @)

Description Reference Remark
it 2% b
KPI B6.2 Number of product and service related complaints ~ Product FIJEEFEIBE
R AT received and how they are dealt with. Responsibility
B6.2 RN E MM RGIRFEE ARESH T EmEE
% e
KPIB6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Product FITBEEFEIBE
R AR protecting intellectual property rights. Responsibility
B6.3 el B AT S RIE AN B ERE R VBRI EmEE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall ~ Product FIJEEEIBE
BB 4E RUIEAR procedures. Responsibility
B6.4 HilE ZieE BE MERBIWIET - EmEE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Product EIIEEEIBE
AR AR RIE IS privacy policies, and how they are implemented Responsibility
B6.5 and monitored. EmBE
B EE ERMRIE RALBEER - ARBERITR
BESRGL o
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7 : RES
General Information on (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Anti-corruption %388
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have a RES
—M iR significant impact on the issuer.
BE: (@EE: MO ETHETATEAZEN
HEERRBRBNER -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-corruption #3888
AR RIE IS corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its R&ER
B7.1 employees during the reporting period and the

outcomes of the cases.
Eﬁiﬁiﬁﬁ NEBETASIHEEREIES
HIRARME BB KFAER -

EHE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

BRE #HERER

BR5| @)

Description Reference Remark
it 2E e
KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Anti-corruption #3888
R AT blowing procedures, and how they are implemented X &5
B7.2 and monitored.
e e e R WmIE T - BT RERT
P
B. COMMUNITY
B.# &
Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEB8 : HERE
General Policies on community engagement to understand ~ Community FEIIEEEIWE
Disclosure the needs of the communities where the issuer Involvement
—RRIEE operates and to ensure its activities take into ftim e
consideration the communities’ interests.
BN RBERTRETASENEHREE
MEREEBEHEZEBERAGFABR
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Donations, EI9EEFEL0H
R AT environmental concerns, labour needs, health, Sponsorship
B8.1 culture, sport). BBy
HIEREE (NHE BRIRER HIFK BE-
b - BBE) ©
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the Donations, EI9EEFEL0H
B2 4B IR R focus area. Sponsorship
B8.2 EZIBRBMABAER (NS EHRFRE) - B BB
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognizes the importance of corporate transparency
and accountability. The Company is committed to achieving and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, as our Board
believes that good and effective corporate governance practices
are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the shareholders
of the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for
encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain
the success of the Group and to create long-term value for the

shareholders of the Company.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on
the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code"”) contained in
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. To the best knowledge of
the Board, except as disclosed herein the Company has complied
with the CG Code during the Year and up to the date of this annual

report.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions by Directors in respect of the shares of the Company
(the "Code of Conduct”). After specific enquires by the Company,
all Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with
the required standard of dealings set out in the Code of Conduct
during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and is collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing
and supervising its affairs. Directors make decisions objectively in
the best interests of the Company. The Board meets regularly and

Board meetings are held four times a year at quarterly intervals.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive should
be clearly established.

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar currently assumes the role of both chairman
of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company. The
Board considers that both roles being held by Mr. Cheung will
provide a strong and consistent leadership to the Company which
will facilitate effective planning and efficient management of the
Company. Furthermore, having considered Mr. Cheung’s extensive
experience in the engineering industry, the relationships Mr.
Cheung has built with customers and the historical development
of the Group, the Board considers that it is beneficial for the
Group to have Mr. Cheung continue to act as both chairman and
chief executive officer of the Company. In order to maintain good
corporate governance and fully comply with the code provision
A2.1 of the CG Code, the Board will regularly review the need to
appoint different individuals to perform the roles of chairman and

chief executive officer separately.

BOARD COMPOSITION
The Company is committed to the view that the Board should

include a balanced composition of executive and non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) so
that there is an independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement, and that non-
executive Directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for

their views to carry weight.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises the following five

Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar

(chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Mr. Ng Pak Hung

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion

Mr. Chan Wan Fung

54 Annual Report 3 2019

FRETRAR
EEEBTROTARNXEA2VERE  £F
EITRARBUEERD  TEHF—AEE-
TRETHRARZBE D TRBWRE

REERARBEEARARNEETSIFRITHRE
B-BFERR REERKREIWERML &

RARARERIMEBNEE - SARFNE
BARBINEBRERBM - s ERRELEET

BITENEELR REECEHEPREIYMNER
AEAEENBERR EFERL RutH
BREEARAIFERTRAERNTEAEEONE
REFRIFCEE AR EEETEEERTRIN
AR EA2G EFEHREHRTREH
ZETAAL D RIBELERITHRABEBE -

EETEEM

ARRIBBRL EFCRAHENHRITERER

FRTES(BRELIFVTES) AN AEE
SRMBEIM - EMAREL B HE - AR

HRITERERABRATERAB  USERED

BEREBREN -

RARERY EFSMUATHABRESHENK

BITES

REFERE
(EFESLERTTHABE)

REBEE

BYFHITES
PR IR S5 A
BRERER S &
RE=RE



Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND EERZEENENHELE
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board &BESERAFERITNEZTSNEEZLZEZSH
committee meetings of the Company held during the Year is set ~ #JHF a0 8RN T 5% -

out in the table below:

Number of meetings held during the Year
Attended/Eligible to attend
B/ RERHERFAFERTHERRR

Annual
Board Audit Nomination Remuneration General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting

Ezgg ENZEE REZEE FHZEEE RREFAE

Number of meetings held BMEERY 4 4 1 1 1
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REESRE 4/4 N/AT i A 11 171 171
Mr. Ng Pak Hung RIEBILAE 4/4 N/ATiE A N/ATE N/ATE R 171

Independent non-executive ~ BUHHTEE

Directors
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam BRINAR A 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion BRER L& 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Chan Wan Fung REELE 4/4 4/4 N/ATE N/ATE R 171

The Company has convened four Board meetings during the ARAGIERENXEETRIMSFAESTEAT
@

HOR HFFE—R-

=)
PP
=]

Year at approximately quarterly intervals in accordance with code (& RAAFEEBHEEE
provision A.1.1 of the CG Code.

The biographical details of each of the Directors are setoutinthe EEZELKEANBRFFHINEARE(ESLILHE

section headed "Directors and Senior Management” of this report. 2 [E | —f o
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS (continued)

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the
Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The independent non-executive Directors have brought
in a wide range of business and financial expertise, experiences and
independent judgement to the Board. Through active participation
in the Board meetings and serving on various Board committees,
all independent non-executive Directors have made various

contributions to the Company.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence, and the
Company considers such independent non-executive Director to
be independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal action against

the Company’s Directors has been arranged by the Company.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

In accordance with the Articles, all the Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any new
Director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company following his/her appointment and shall be subject to re-
election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the

Company (“AGM") and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board supervises the management of the business and
affairs of the Company and ensures that it is managed in the
best interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the business
strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business performance
of the Company, approving the financial statements and annual
budgets as well as directing and supervising the management of
the Company. Execution of operational matters and the powers
thereof are delegated to the management by the Board with clear
directions. The Board is regularly provided with management
update report to give a balanced and understandable assessment
of the performance, position, development and prospects of the

Company in sufficient detail.

The Board is also responsible for the corporate governance

functions of the Group, which includes:

—  To develop and review of the Group's policies and practices

on corporate governance;

- To review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of directors and senior management;

-  To review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

-  To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors;
and

- To review the Group's compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the Year, the Board had reviewed and discussed the
corporate governance policy of the Group and was satisfied with

the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the Group.

AERBE
EXEQREBEARAEBRERNEER  RERE
EMEARABRRERSRENENBER TETE
B-BEETIERRAHTEERBERE FHLEE
ARBMEBHRR ERMBHRERLFEREN
RIETRREBARRNERE -EX2SKLES
THOHIT MR RETEERE - WRHUEM
BR - EFQRTHRHEEBSRNBE  UFR
RHANFTRERRARNKRE R - BR KA
RETHERHRIEBEH TS

EEeNBEAKENDEERREE

- BRMEFNASENCEEABRRRER

- RAMCEREZEREREEEBNFIIREF

BEEUR:

- RAMEEASEGCEETEZEREERTE
FTEOBREER

- BB RIREREAREAREENHTA
FRRARFM: K

- REAREATEEEATANERRE
EERBEFEORE -

RAFE EFECRINMIRAKENLEXE
ARER - WHARRE R E BRI UREE M °

Annual Report 3 2019 57




. Boltek Holdings Limited

BREZERARAR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERBME

BOARD COMMITTEES

To facilitate the work of the Board, the Board has established
three Board committees to oversee specific aspects of the Group's
affairs, namely the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Each Board committee has its own terms
of reference relating to its authority and duties, which have been
approved by the Board and are reviewed periodically. The terms of
reference of each committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Each Board committee has also been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request,
is able to seek independent profession advice in appropriate

circumstances at the Group's expense.

Audit Committee

The Group established the Audit Committee on 20 August 2018
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.29 of
the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C.3.3 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of our Audit Committee include, among others, (a)
making recommendations to our Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor;
(b) reviewing our financial statements, our periodic reports and
accounts and significant financial reporting judgements contained
therein; and (c) reviewing our financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems. Our Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Wan Fung,
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam and Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion. Mr. Chan

Wan Fung is the chairman of our Audit Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings, at which it
has reviewed and discussed the Company’s audited consolidated
financial results for the Year and the unaudited consolidated
financial results for the quarterly period ended 31 March 2019,
and 30 September 2019 and the interim period ended 30 June
2019 including the accounting principles and practice adopted
by the Group, the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report, the effectiveness
of the Group's risk management and internal control systems as well
as the Group's internal audit function. The Audit Committee has
also recommended to the Board to consider the re-appointment
of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”) as the
Company's external independent auditors at the forthcoming AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Group established the Nomination Committee on 20 August
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
A.5.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of our Nomination
Committee include, among others, (a) reviewing the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of our Board at least annually and making recommendations on
any proposed changes to our Board to complement our corporate
strategy; (b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
members of our Board and selecting or making recommendations
to our Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (c) assessing the independence of our independent
non-executive Directors; and (d) making recommendations to
our Board on the appointment and succession planning for our
Directors. Our Nomination Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam and Mr.
Chan Kai Kow Macksion, and one executive Director, namely Mr.
Cheung Kwan Tar. Mr. Cheung is the chairman of our Nomination

Committee.

The policy for the nomination of Directors, including the nomination
procedure and process, are to invite nominations from Board
members or Nomination Committee members. After undertaking
adequate due diligence in respect of any such nominee, the
Nomination Committee makes recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval. In the context of re-appointment of
any existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee
makes recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation, for the proposed candidates to stand for re-

election at a general meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)
The Nomination Committee considers the following criteria in

assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:
(a) reputation for integrity;

(b) accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant

industry and other relevant sectors;

(c) commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and

attention to the Company’s business;

(d) diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience

(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge;

(e) the ability to assist and support management and make

significant contributions to the Company’s success;

(f)  compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules for the appointment
of an independent non-executive Director; and

(9) any other relevant factors as may be determined by the

Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting, during
which it reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and recommended to the Board for consideration the re-
appointment of the retiring Directors at the AGM held on 17 May
2019.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Board diversity policy

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board.

Under the Board Diversity Policy, the Company considers diversity
of board members to be achieved through consideration of a
number of aspects, including but not limited to, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments are based on merit, and
candidates are considered against objective criteria, having due

regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group

achieved the objectives of its Board Diversity Policy for the Year.

Remuneration Committee

The Group established the Remuneration Committee on 20 August
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.35
of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B.1.2 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of our Remuneration Committee, under the principle
that no Director or any of his associates should be involved in
deciding his own remuneration include, among others, making
recommendations to our Board on (a) our remuneration policy
and structure for all of our Directors and senior management;
(b) the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policies; (c) the remuneration packages
of our executive Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their offices or appointments; and (d) the remuneration of our non-
executive Directors. Our Remuneration Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yu Sum
Sam and Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion and one executive Director
namely Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar. Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam is the

chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting,
during which it reviewed and considered the specific remuneration

packages of the executive Directors.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years and such letter of appointment may be terminated by
either party giving at least one month’s notice in writing. Also, the
independent non-executive Directors are subject to re-election on

retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of their independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-
executive Directors namely Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam, Mr. Chan Kai
Kow Macksion and Mr. Chan Wan Fung to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the GEM

Listing Rules for the Year.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of a director’s
responsibilities under applicable statues and common law, the
GEM Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and
the Company’s business and governance policies. The Company
will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills relating to their duties and

responsibilities.

All Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expense and they are requested to
provide the Company with their training records. According to the
training records maintained by the Company, all Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar, Mr. Ng Pak Hung, Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam,
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion and Mr. Chan Wan Fung had attended
training sessions on obligations, duties and responsibilities of

directors during the Year.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has established and maintained the procedures
and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other employees
of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group
has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside
information or any use of such information for the advantage of
any individual. Inside information and other information which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of Stock Exchange and the

Company in due course.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the Year, the remuneration bands of senior management is

listed as follows:

Band of remuneration (HK$)

BEERBMAFTHEE

ARRIEHIET B R R IE N M AR B EMNIEF
K REBEE - RABIERIEGEM LR A 5.46
B/ IGREFRETARAELRRHRN—ETT
ASFRI e REEE E AR B A0 Al BERF B AR BIHY
NEBETMAZGINEERS - AEEBERE
BREERREHIANTHEE AR EMEAFEM
ERBEBER - AREHEE RRIEGEM LR A
AT ARBENEMER K REE S RERAMR
ZAYNEIE=3= = EED A A

= AR E I B
RAFE  SREEBNFHFMEESIRAT

No. of person(s)

FiEE(GEx) AB
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 078 7L % 1,000,000 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 8 7L 2 1,500,000 7T 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T % 2,000,000/ 7T 2

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5
highest paid employees are set out in note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to ensure the financial statements are published
in a timely manner. The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability

to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s

Report as annexed to this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’' REMUNERATION
During the Year, the fee paid/payable to the external independent

auditors of the Company and its affiliates is as follows:

BYRBEME
RAEE BN/ R AR RSN BB &
EBBARNBERBIMT ;

Description HK$
Eipn BT
Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited BE(EB) SrMmEEMER AR

Annual audit services FEEZRS 600,000
Other professional CPA firm HiFEE ST EAT

Annual audit services FEEZRG 20,000
Grand total HaET 620,000

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and
review of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
and review of their effectiveness. The Board must ensure that the
Company establishes and maintains effective risk management and
internal control systems to meet the objectives and safeguard the

interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Company.

The Board oversees the Group’s overall risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. At the same time, the
Group endeavours to identify risks, control impact of the identified
risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating

measures.

The Group does not have an internal audit department but the
Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a
need for such an internal audit department. Given the Group’s
relatively simple corporate and operation structure, the Board,
as supported by the Audit Committee, is directly responsible
for risk management and internal control systems of the Group
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk

management functions and for reviewing its effectiveness.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The Group's risk management and internal control system features
the following processes to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks, and review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, as well as resolve material internal control
defects:

e Members of the Board and Audit Committee discuss with the
external independent auditor key issues in relation to internal

controls, audit findings and risk management;

e The Board and Audit Committee oversee the financial
reporting system and internal control procedures; in this
process, management is principally responsible for the
preparation of Group financial statements including the

selection of suitable accounting policies;

e The external independent auditor is responsible for auditing
and attesting to Group financial statements and report to
the management of the Company from time to time on
any weakness in controls which come to their attention; the
Board and Audit Committee oversee the respective work of
management and external auditors to ensure the management
has discharged its duty in respect of having an effective

internal control procedures.

During the Year, the Board had engaged an external consultant,
CT Partners Consultants Limited, to conduct a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system which covered all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Group. The Board
considered the risk management and internal controls systems of

the Group to be adequate and effective for the Year.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
aimed to manage, rather than eliminating, the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and thus can only provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain the adequate
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs

and the budget accounting and financial reporting.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, and the applicable legislation and
regulation, in particular the GEM Listing Rules (as amended from
time to time), the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM"). EGMs shall also be
convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of requisition, not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of
requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company by mail at 5/F, Winning
Commercial Building, 46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong to require an EGM to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such requisition should specify clearly the name of the eligible
shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the reason(s)
to convene an EGM and the details of the business(es) proposed
to be transacted in the EGM, and must be signed by the eligible
shareholder(s) concerned together with a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice
of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted
by shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory

requirements to all the registered shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders (continued)

The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company and upon their
confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the Board
will convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance
with the requirements under the Articles to all the registered
shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as
not in order or the shareholders concerned have failed to deposit
sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses for the said
purposes, the eligible shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of

this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM.

If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles
for including a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and
procedures are set out above in the paragraph headed "Procedures

for Convening General Meetings by Shareholders”.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts to
promote transparency and foster investor relationship. Shareholders
are encouraged to send their enquiries to the Board by post to the
principal place of business set out in the section headed "Corporate
Information” in this report. Shareholders may also make enquires

with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board strives to maintain on-going dialogue with shareholders
and the investment community. The Company has established
a shareholders communication policy to set out the Company’s
procedures in providing the shareholders and investment
community with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and

understandable information about the Company.

Latest information on the Group including, but not limited to,
annual, interim and quarterly reports, circulars, announcements,
and notices of AGMs are updated on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the website of the Company

(www.boltekholdings.com).

In addition, the Company regards the AGM as an important event
as it provides an opportunity for direct communication between the
Board and its shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the AGM.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the Year. The Articles is available on the

respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEgHRE

The Board is pleased to submit this annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal business activity of the Company is that of investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the

consolidated financial statements.

REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 18 April 2018.
Its shares were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 13
September 2018. Pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group in
connection with the Listing, the Company underwent a corporate
reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”), and the Company became
the holding company of the Group on 10 August 2018. Details
of the Reorganisation are set out in the section headed "History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — Reorganisation” to the
Prospectus dated 29 August 2018.

DIRECTORS

The name of every person who was a Director at any point during

the Year and up to date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (Executive Director)
Mr. Na Pak Hung (Executive Director)

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion (Independent non-executive Director)

Mr. Chan Wan Fung (Independent non-executive Director)

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. Cheung Kwan
Tar and Mr. Ng Pak Hung will retire from the Board by rotation at
the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election.

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are set out in the section headed

"Directors and Senior Management” of this report.
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RESULTS/BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor's Report” on page 86 of this report.
The business review of the Group for the Year, which includes
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an analysis
using financial key performance indicators of the Group's business,
particulars of important events affecting the Group, an indication of
likely future developments in the Group's business, and discussion
on the Company'’s environmental policies and performance and
the relationships with its stakeholders, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis”, “"Corporate Governance Report”, “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” and “Independent Auditor's Report” of

this annual report. The review forms part of this directors’ report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past four financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 172 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

A statement of the reserves available for distribution to
shareholders of the Company as at 31 December 2019 is set out in
the “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” and note 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the

dividend amount, the Board takes into account, inter alia:
() the general financial condition of the Group;
(i) capital and debt level of the Group;

(iii) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development

needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed

by the Group's lenders;
(v) the general market conditions; and
(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
any other applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles. The
dividend policy of the Company will be reviewed by the Board from
time to time and there can be no assurance that a dividend will be

proposed or declared in any specific period.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of any
final dividend for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S SECURITIES

The Board confirms that during the Year, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company's securities.

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

R EBUR

EREEEREKEENEERECHEN B8

At (KR BE) UTHEE

() AEENH—RIABIR

(i) AEREHERREBHKFE

(i) RKBEEBREEHEE - EHEE AR
TRBRAOA MM

(iv) AREEET A EE IR R EE TR
Bl

v EXER/BEENEMNEMESE -
ARBRNEREBTAETHRERSRADE - M
HEmAE - MAISORRARAR] - ARBH

BERREREESTNREMN  ESERENME
45 E B A BR E IR AR E SRS -

RERE
EFRCARTRETRAFEOETRBRE -

BE - HEIFELEAXAQFAHSF

EZemR NAFE  KARAHEEFAMER
AEEE  HEXBERAQBEMES -

Annual Report 3 2019 71




Boltek Holdings Limited ® BEZEARBR A A

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEgHRE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the Laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company

to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Tuesday, 5 May 2020 to Friday, 8 May 2020, both
days inclusive, during which no transfer of shares of the Company
will be effected. In the case of shares of the Company, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK)
Limited at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 4 May 2020.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 20 August
2018 (the "Adoption Date"”). The terms of the Share Option
Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary of the principal

terms of the Share Option Scheme:

(A) Purpose of Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which the Group holds
any equity interest (“Invested Entity”).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(B) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

)

Any employee (whether full time or part time employee,
including any executive Director) of our Company, any of

its subsidiaries and any Invested Entity;

Any non-executive Director (including independent
non-executive Director) of our Company, any of its

subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

Any supplier of goods or services to any member of our
Group or any Invested Entity;

Any customer of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

Any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of our

Group or any Invested Entity;

Any shareholder of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by

any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;

Any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any

member of our Group or any Invested Entity; and

Any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute, by way of joint venture,
business alliance, other business arrangement or
otherwise, to the development and growth of our Group,
and for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the
option may be granted to any company wholly-owned
by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants or any discretionary object of a

participant which is a discretionary trust.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(&)

(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

74

Total number of shares available for Issue under the
Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares
which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all share
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in the
Company in issue on the Listing Date, being 80,000,000 shares
in the Company.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant under the
Share Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of grant of the options must not exceed 1% of the

total number of shares in the Company in issue.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up
under an Option

The period during which an option may be exercised is
determined by the Board at its discretion, save that such
period shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of
grant.

Minimum period for which an Option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by our Board and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum
period required under the Share Option Scheme for the

holding of an option before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of an option and the
Period within which payments shall be made

A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of grant of an option. An option may be offered for
acceptance for a period of 21 days from the date on which the

letter containing the offer is delivered to that participant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) R ERTE ()

(H) Basis of determining the Exercise Price (H BETHEENEE
The exercise price in respect of any particular option shall, AR AR B AR A 51 B 16 R &Y (E (o] 38 B i
subject to any adjustment made pursuant to the terms of the A EERENTEERRAERSE
Share Option Scheme, be such price as determined by our EWER WEEABRATELERAT &
Board, but in any case shall not be less than the highest of (i) 2ERREBRERR(BERZZH) B
the closing price of the shares in the Company as stated in R AMERAWMARBIRGWAE : (i)
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of REERHEREABHINAEZIZ BB
the grant of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the Frg B ERTMARQ R FHRTE : R (i)
average closing price of the shares in the Company as stated B ERE B BARRRMDOEE -

in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant
of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share in the

Company on the date of grant of the option.

() Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme () BBRESTZAFERER
The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a BRETEEERABBHRI0FHEANR
period of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date. R AR
As of the report date, no share option has been granted, HERSHH - BRABEDE - WEBERK
exercised, cancelled, or lapsed under the Share Option PERER H ~ 1TfF - FEEHER AR o

Scheme since the Adoption Date.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS % 1R 4 88 17 R

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements  FREEAR#EETEIHD + AN A B F RBLERT 37 (] B2 1
were entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted at ~ #MA - INE R AR W RN F RIDATTAE -
the end of the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION BiIE R %
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available FE BT - MEBRRAFTBE R AR FHFMERS
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s AT 75 % °

securities.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales and purchases for the Year attributable to

the Group's major customers and suppliers are as follows:

FEEFRHERS
rEEFERFRHERNEBHFTFANHEERERED
D

%
SALES HE
— The largest customer —HmAEP 14.8
— Five largest customers —HEREP 39.3
PURCHASES BRAE
— The largest supplier —HRRHER 27.1
— Five largest suppliers —HARHER 63.1

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which
to the best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) had an interest in the major customers or

suppliers noted above.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, details of significant transactions with the
Company’s related parties or transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business are set out in the note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of those transactions constitutes a
disclosable connected transaction pursuant to Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made donations amounting to a total
of HK$152,000 for charitable purposes.

76 Annual Report 3 2019

MEEE HBBASIRESARANEEALQF
BRAEIBS%NEMERN LA T BT RME
B

HBAIRXEREERS

RER - BRRFEBRITNEARSINBEEE
BREPETHIZINFBTHRNGE P BEHRERM
27 - RIBEGEM EHARAF 20T - ZFERHH
THKETHRERERS -

B
RER AEBERBEZEFELBANALER
152,000 % 7T ©
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EEgHRE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, The Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO")) which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the required standard of dealings as referred
to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

I.  Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

B EREMER

EEREIRTHRAEBREAQAREAB X
Ea RS HERONEERNRERAXR

RZZF-NF+_A=1+—H EFHLEXRFAZE
2 BERARBREEMMBEZEE(EER

GO (RS RERG ) FEXVED) &
A REEETRBEREES YR
[EEBIZEXVERSE 7 K 2870 B A A& AN 2 7] BBk
RFrE s MoA R (BIERER 7 LB GHIH
BRGREFR R RSERNEDIAR)
HAEER N AR BIRIEE 75 M E 5155 3521% 78
BT MRS MRR - HREGEM ETH
MAIE 54 IRPTIEMIR Z L TIREB NG AR A
KB PN s FOXBIAT

. EAREERNEFR
Number of shares Percentage of

held/interested shareholding

i EERERZN
=8 EEME BHEE BEES L
Cheung Kwan Tar Interest in a controlled corporation (Note) 426,000,000 53.25%

SREFIE RREEB R ()

Note: These shares were held by Waywin Investment Holding Limited

(“Waywin"), a controlled corporation of Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar.

MiE ZERMBRFELEENTHEZIABRREER
BRAR(BRDIFHE -
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION (continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, The Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations (continued)

Il. Long position in the ordinary shares of associated

corporation — Waywin

ERREREMAER 2
EEREIRTHRAEBREAQAREAB X
Ea RS HERONEERNRERAXR

(%)

. REBEIE-BREBRNEFRE

Number of shares Percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest held/interested shareholding
IE= g op $-3:
E=pE ERME R5H &8 REF DL
Cheung Kwan Tar Beneficial owner 1 100%
RETE BamlE A

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, the following parties (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) had interests of 5%
or more in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

FERRRAEMATARLRREG KE
ERONERZRAR

RZZ—NF+ZA=+—H8 UTAL(ES
FARAEZITHRABRIN RARRRG P #
BRBERAR AR EE H K E K05 336 16 7A
BEEME M 5% A EHRER

Name of substantial Number of shares Percentage of
shareholder Nature of interest held/interested shareholding
g HEEREEN

TERRES BB Ry e BETD

Cheung Kwan Tar Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 1) 426,000,000 53.25%

RAFIE AP A E R (e

Chiu Chui Ping Interest of spouse (Note 2) 426,000,000 53.25%

R Be{B i (fFE2)

Waywin Investment Holding Beneficial owner 426,000,000 53.25%
Limited

BRIEEIERBR AR EnEAA

Cheng Chi Heng Beneficial owner 58,800,000 7.35%

] BEm#EE A

Polar Lights Limited Beneficial owner 57,600,000 7.20%

Polar Lights Limited ERBEA

Wong Che Shing Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 3) 57,600,000 7.20%

FER REEEE®EZ (5E3)

Lam Mi Yung Interest of spouse (Note 4) 57,600,000 7.20%

MER B (HiE4)

Twinkle Galaxy Limited Beneficial owner 57,600,000 7.20%

Twinkle Galaxy Limited EREAA

Lam Kwan Yuen Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 5) 57,600,000 7.20%

MR R EEE R (MTFES)

Qiu Jianlian Interest of spouse (Note 6) 57,600,000 7.20%

s fe Bz (M sk 6)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes:

1) These shares were held by Waywin, a controlled corporation of Mr. Cheung

Kwan Tar.

(2) Ms. Chiu Chui Ping was deemed to be interested in 426,000,000 shares of the
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar.

3 These shares were held by Polar Lights Limited, a controlled corporation of Mr.

Wong Che Shing.

4) Ms. Lam Mi Yung was deemed to be interested in 57,600,000 shares of the
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Wong Che Shing.

(5) These shares were held by Twinkle Galaxy Limited, a controlled corporation of

Mr. Lam Kwan Yuen.

(6) Ms. Qiu Jianlian was deemed to be interested in 57,600,000 shares of the

Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Lam Kwan Yuen.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Company
is not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.
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A
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7N /A F 57,600,000 A & (5 #O #E 25 o

()  ZF R Ap B ER %k B R 1%L B Twinkle Galaxy
Limited £ 5 °

6 EREZLREAFEBEREMWEREEOERTES
7R /2 F 57,600,000 A ik (5 #O #E 25 o
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All executive Directors currently in office have entered into
service agreements with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and shall continue unless
terminated by either party giving no less than three months’ written

notice served by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated
by either party giving no less than one month’'s written notice
served by either party on the other.

The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by rotation

of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed
to be re-elected at the forthcoming AGM has entered into a service
contract or an appointment letter with our Company or any of our
subsidiaries (other than contracts or appointment letters expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without the payment

of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ emoluments are subject to the Company’s
shareholders’ approval at general meetings and such emoluments
shall be determined by the Board and the Remuneration
Committee with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group. Details of remuneration
of the Directors are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

EERBEH

FIBEERTESC BARBRILRBHE @ £
el R = F Y REEEEEM— R
A—HERTPR=_EANE@AEMN TIALLL -

BBIUFNTEFCHARAG LA LT B MR
MNEEHMR=FORTEK  AJlEIA—-—FTE5—
FEEPIR—EANEEBEM T AL -

EERBFRARMAUNMBESRERE -

Br EXFAHEEIN BN EERRBFAELE
BBENEEHEERR R REA(ANE R RET
VRFEHIRER(R—FABHK AT HEE
BEMBASNEE CAERERIN HEAK
RAEHERIL) ©

EEHM
EEFMASELARARBEAR LK - %
EHMAMEFERFWEEELZHENBE -
ECRRANRAEBNLERT - SHEEY
e B A BTSRRI 3 12 -
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company's policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management’s remuneration, on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy, and on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of office or

appointment.

Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the Remuneration
Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment, responsibilities and employment

conditions elsewhere in the Group.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and

secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty by any of the Directors.

A directors’ liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors

against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought

against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of the continuing connected transactions and related party
transactions are set out in the Corporate Governance Report and

note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Notwithstanding the above, no transaction, arrangement or
contract that is significant in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a person who at any time during the Year was a Director or
his connected entity had, directly or indirectly, a material interest

subsisted at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except for the Share Option Scheme, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiary undertakings was a party to any arrangements to
enable Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company’s business was entered into or existed during
the Year.

INTEREST IN COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the controlling shareholders of the
Company, or any of their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in a business apart from the
Group's business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the Group’s business during the Year, and is
required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR
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s
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS
Each of controlling shareholders of the Company, Mr. Cheung and

Waywin has confirmed to the Company of their respective due
compliance with the terms of the deed of non-competition (the
“"Deed of Non-Competition”) during the Year and up to the date
of this report.

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
compliance of the Deed of Non-Competition and were satisfied
that the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition had been duly
complied with and enforced during the Year and up to the date of
this report.

During the Year, the Board had not received any written
confirmation from any of our Directors in respect of interest in any
business (other than our Group) which is or is likely to be directly or

indirectly in competition with our business.

INTEREST OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed Grande Capital Limited (“Grande”)
as the compliance adviser. Except for the compliance adviser
agreement entered into between the Company and Grande dated
16 August 2018, neither Grande nor its directors, employees or
close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any
interests in relation to the Company or in the share capital of any
member of the Company which is required to be notified to the
Group pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules as at the
date of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of
the Directors, the Company maintained a sufficient amount of

public float for its shares as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group fully complies with all laws and regulations and regularly
monitors and gathers information about changes in laws, rules
and regulations relevant to the Group's businesses to ensure the
Group's observance of those applicable laws, rules and regulations,

especially those which may have material impact on the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
Grant Thornton, who will retire at the end of the forthcoming AGM,
and being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Grant Thornton as the independent auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board
Boltek Holdings Limited
Cheung Kwan Tar

Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB R &S

o GrantThornton
23]

TO THE MEMBERS OF BOLTEK HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Boltek
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 94 to 171, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance (“CO").

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ARBEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the

Boltek Holdings Limited * =tz AR A A

BREETEHR
BAREAFEEREBEESNEXHE  RREAX
MG AP BRRNEFTRAERNER -

HEF

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These IBEEEE ZEEUBHRERHARRE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the #fTEEN G MESITeYHELEHEIREERN
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our E &, ©

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BRgESTER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENBTNMEERRENSE

Revenue from engineering design and consultancy services

KB TR KRR B

Refer to notes 2.12, 4(a) and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRHG R BERENZ212 4a) K5

The Group recognised revenue and cost from the provision of
engineering design and consultancy services of approximately
HK$100,720,000 and HK$58,158,000 respectively during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Revenue from engineering design and consultancy services
are recognised by reference to contract costs incurred at the
reporting date for work performed as a percentage of total
forecast contract costs at the end of the reporting period. The
Group recognised revenue over time only if it can reasonably -
measure its progress toward complete satisfaction of the

performance obligation.

Our procedures in relation to assess the revenue
from engineering design and consultancy services

included the following:

understood management’s process in
estimating the contract revenue and forecast
contract costs and determining the contract

progress;

checked the accuracy of the total contracts
value to engineering design and consultancy
contracts or other relevant correspondences

and supporting documents, on a sample basis;

REBEZZ—NF+_A=+—BLFE BESERREH
T2 5% 5T & B8 8 AR 75 #Y W 2= J2 A 25 9 1l 49 /4 100,720,000 7 7T K ERFHIRERARERREO M ENEFE
58,158,000 7% 7T ° %LATEE :
REIBLRERRBORSIDNZENREAPAMEENEG — THEE 1&?9%@4& 5 MIERIA B &
HRAMER B ERARDTEAS R A BB ESLER - BS BEANEENR
EEAEEAETEETEBITRBORBNEER A BRIk -

— NHEFRAREIEREEMAONEA

A EEHEAMAREBE R ERE
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BB R &S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BREESER

BRESEE D

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENETNMERBRETSE

The contract progress requires the management’s estimation
of the actual outcome in terms of total contract costs, which
requires the exercise of significant management judgement,
particularly in relation to the estimation of total forecast contract
costs and the recoverable variation works. These estimates are
also made based on past experience and knowledge of the

project management.

We have identified the revenue recognition related to
engineering design and consultancy services as a key audit
matter, considering the extent of management judgement

exercised.
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discussed with the management about the
performance and status of contracts, on
a sample basis, to obtain explanations for
fluctuations in gross profit margin and changes

in the budgeted cost, if any;

agreed, on a sample basis, contract sum to
signed contract (and variation orders, if any)
and checked, on a sample basis, the project’s
forecast costs (such as subconsultancy fees
and labour costs) to supporting documents
including but not limited to invoices, price

quotation and rate of labour costs;

inspected, on a sample basis, underlying
documents in respect of actual costs incurred
to year end and compared, on a sample basis,
the project’s cost component of the actual cost
incurred up to year end to the forecast cost
and obtained explanation from management

for any variation;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ARBEN RS

Boltek Holdings Limited * =tz AR A A

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) BREETEH @
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BREESER EENBFTNMEERRENSE

recalculated the amount of revenue
recognised for individual contracts, on a
sample basis, based on agreed contract sum
(plus recognised variation orders, if any), total

forecast costs and actual cost incurred;

assessing the reliability of the approved
budgets by comparing the actual outcome
against management’s estimation of

completed contracts on a sample basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB R &S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2019 annual report
of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the CO, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for

overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB RS

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

e  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued))

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that

we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued))

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

20 March 2020

Chan Tze Kit
Practising Certificate No.: P05707
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meBEaRkEaEEiER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+-_A=1T—HIEFE

2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
L: FET FAETT
Revenue U &5 5 100,720 88,422
Cost of services Rl 75 A 2R (58,158) (50,439)
Gross profit EX 42,562 37,983
Other income H YA 6 1,263 568
Administrative expenses THHEX (23,850) (36,965)
Finance costs B & KA 7 (215) =
Profit before income tax BRET BB ANER 8 19,760 1,586
Income tax expense FriS#i M X2 9 (3,262) (3,024)
Profit/(Loss) and total comprehensive ARAEREEAELEFEA
income/(expense) for the year wH (BR)REE
attributable to equity holders Wi () B8
of the Company 16,498 (1,438)
HK cents HK cents
A B
Earnings/(Loss) per share attributable to ZAATEZIEEAELER
equity holders of the Company BF, (F8)
Basic and diluted BEARREE 11 2.06 (0.22)
The notes on pages 99 to 171 are an integral part of these HF9OFE171BEZWEBKRZERAUBHRERZ —

consolidated financial statements. B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PRI R

As at 31 December 2019 R =T —NF+=A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-)N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
Non-current asset EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MEE 13 7.344 1,475
Current assets REEE
Contract assets BHEE 16 12,207 8,504
Trade and other receivables B 5 M H IR 15 34,171 30,822
Current tax recoverable A U [2] BN HA 77 18 - 1,266
Cash and bank balances R & RIRTTAH 17 89,141 75,285
135,519 115,877
Current liabilities REBEE
Contract liabilities AHEE 16 163 659
Provisions B 18 2,232 2,206
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk H b 5K 19 6,653 2,059
Lease liabilities — current portion HEBGE-—RBHS 20 2,554 —
Amounts due to directors/a director R EE,/ —Z2E=HE 21 1,800 1,500
Current tax liabilities BNEAFRIE & (& 121 =
13,523 6,424
Net current assets REEEFE 121,996 109,453
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 129,340 110,928
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Lease liabilities — non-current portion HEBE-FREBBD 20 1,888 —
Deferred tax liabilities REFIBAR 22 276 153
2,164 153
Net assets BEEFE 127,176 110,775
EQUITY R
Share capital f% AR 23 8,000 8,000
Reserves R 24 119,176 102,775
Total equity EREE 127,176 110,775
Cheung Kwan Tar Ng Pak Hung
RAFE RAH B
Director Director
EZE =

FREIMAZHEBRZEFEEYBHRR 2 —

o e

The notes on pages 99 to 171 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARARERAABEARES

Share Capital Share Retained
capital reserve*  premium* earnings* Total
k& EXREr  ROBE*  REBA At

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THRL THER THT THER
(Note 23)  (Note 24(a))  (Note 24(b))
(E23)  (Miztod@@)  (MizE24(b))

Balance at 1 January 2018 RZE-N\E—HF—R&&H = = = 22,545 22,545
Issuance of ordinary shares of a RERERLET

subsidiary for Loan Capitalisation ~ —fE}IB 2 AL @A

(Note 23(d) and Note 30) (& 23(d) R K97E 30) 5,000 - - - 5,000
Issuance of ordinary shares of HERAREEARER

Richness Universal for Pre-IPO 41 B2 %17 Richness Universal

Investments and Bonus Shares EiE R (Bt 23()

(Note 23(e)) 9 - 11,991 - 12,000
Effect of group reorganisation SEBEH TE (5,009) 17,000 (11,991) = =
Issue of ordinary shares pursuant ~ RIFBEAMLETETE AR

to the Capitalisation Issue (B 23(b)ii))

(Note 23(b)(ii)) 6,000 - (6,000) - -
Issue of ordinary shares pursuantto  RIZMR D3 & ETLBR

the Share Offer (Note 23(c)) (PiFEE23(0)) 2,000 - 70,668 - 72,668
Loss and total comprehensive FREBRRZERLARE

expense for the year - - - (1,438) (1,438)
Balance at 31 December 2018and  R=ZF—/\E+=A=+—H

1 January 2019 RZZ-NF-A—B&EH 8,000 17,000 64,668 21,107 110,775
Adjustment from the adoption of ~ FRAVE B IS MEERIE 165

HKFRS 16 (Note 3) BRAAE (M3 = - a (97) 97)
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2019 R=Z—F—A—H

TRERER 8,000 17,000 64,668 21,010 110,678
Profit and total comprehensive FRaNREANEESE

income for the year = = = 16,498 16,498

Balance at 31 December 2019 R=Z-h%E+=A
=+-R&R 8,000 17,000 64,668 37,508 127,176

*

These reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of HK$119,176,000 (2018: * ZERBERFEELAKERGEESWBRARPOEE
HK$102,775,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 119,176,000% 7T (= — /A4 : 102,775,000 7C) °

48

The notes on pages 99 to 171 are an integral part of these HE9FE171BEZWEFBKREZEHRETHEHRERZ —

.
consolidated financial statements. 2 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2019 2018
—g-ne o
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5 THET THT
Cash flows from operating activities RELETBNEESRE
Profit before income tax KR BT 1S LA 4 A 19,760 1,586
Adjustments for: SHBA NI :
Interest income 2 HA (1,052) (324)
Depreciation e 3,257 586
Expected credit loss (“ECL") IR EHEZBREEEE
allowance on: (TEEEEEEL B :
— contract assets —EHEE 155 =
— trade receivables — 8 ZEIRRIE 380 =
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBEMEER 215 —
Operating profit before working capital EBESBHALE BT
changes 22,715 1,848
Increase in contract assets BHEEEN (3,858) (1,166)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 N E b e Wk IR 1L 0 (3,537) (5,703)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other B 5 K E e R IE
payables 2, Ord) 4,594 (3,344)
(Decrease)/Increase in contract liabilities AHBECED) (496) 2
Increase in amounts due to directors/ EfES —REERE
a director = 300 1,500
Decrease in amount due to a related party &t — % BB 75 5B R - (1,200)
Increase in provisions BEAIE N 26 =
Cash generated from/(used in) operations & &M (FTA)E & 19,744 (8,063)
Income tax paid EREREH (1,737) (6,227)
Net cash generated from/(used in) WL ETBE () BHE
operating activities JHEE 18,007 (14,290)
Cash flows from investing activities REREZHNRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB E ¥ - = K& (2,628) (699)
Interest received B HFH S 860 324
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFTHE 2 FEE (1,768) (375)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2? Iﬁ:%/}lb 13—‘%

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2019 2018
—E-hF — )\
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5 THET FHTT
Cash flows from financing activities REMETBENESRE
Dividends paid BEfKRE - (3,073)
Payment of lease liabilities HEBEMK (2,383) =
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares ~ B E X AFZEERIRE K&
for Pre-IPO investments and Loan ERENMETEBRRZ
Capitalisation PR1SRIA 23(d)&(e) - 12,000
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares ~ RIERHBEE T LB 2
pursuant to the Share Offer Fri5 3818 23(c) - 72,668
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEZE (FTH)  Frid Bz
financing activities JHEE (2,383) 81,595
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents REREELZEY
= IlIbE 13,856 66,930
Cash and cash equivalents at the FURERREFEY
beginning of year 75,285 8,355
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of ERBERBESEEY 5
year, represented by cash and bank BERBITER
balances 17 89,141 75,285
The notes on pages 99 to 171 are an integral part of these HE9FE 171 B WikERZEEAMEHREY —

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE
1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF 1. " REBREJINEE
PRESENTATION

1.1 General information

1.1 —REH

Boltek Holdings Limited (the "Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands on 18 April 2018. The addresses of
the its registered office and principal place of business
are Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and 5/F, Winning
Commercial Building, 46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha

Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company, which is an investment holding company,
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group”)
are principally engaged in provision of engineering
design and consultancy services in Hong Kong and

investment holding.

The Company’'s immediate and ultimate holding
company is Waywin Investment Holding Limited (“Waywin
Investment”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”). The ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Group is Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (“Controlling
Shareholder”).

The Company's shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 13 September 2018.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 were approved for issue by the board
of directors on 20 March 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF
PRESENTATION (continued)

1.2 Basis of presentation

Pursuant to a group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”),
which was completed by interspersing the Company and
Richness Universal Limited (“Richness Universal”) between
Mannings (Asia) Consultants Limited (“Mannings”) and
the Controlling Shareholder (the “Reorganisation”) in
connection with the listing of the Company’s shares on the
GEM (the “Listing”), the Company became the holding
company of the companies now comprising the Group on
10 August 2018.

Details of the Reorganisation are set out in the paragraph
headed “Reorganisation” in the section headed
“History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure” in
the Company’s prospectus dated 29 August 2018 (the
"Prospectus”). The Group is under the common control
of the Controlling Shareholder prior to and after the
Reorganisation. The Group comprising the Company
and its subsidiaries resulting from the Reorganisation is
regarded as a continuing entity.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year ended 31 December 2018 which
include the results, changes in equity and cash flows of
the companies now comprising the Group have been
prepared using the principles of merger accounting under
Hong Kong Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting
for Common Control Combinations” issued by Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
as if the Company had always been the holding company
of the Group and the current group structure had been in
existence throughout the year ended 31 December 2018,
or since their respective dates of incorporation, where it
is a shorter period.

The consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018 have been prepared as if the current
group structure had been in existence as at those
respective dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBEME
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

21 RBEE

These annual consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and the

accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO") and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new or
amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group's

financial statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been

prepared under the historical cost basis.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$" or “HKD"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries,
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000), except where otherwise indicated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the financial
statements. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge and judgement of current
events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ
from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial

statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® EEZERBR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

2. FESTBRBE S

22 mERE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the

Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from
the date it gains control until the date when the Group

ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Amounts reported in the financial statements
of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to
ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted

by the Group.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is

recognised.
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Boltek Holdings Limited * =tz AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-

controlling interests.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiary is carried at cost less any impairment loss
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a
disposal group. Cost also includes direct attributable

costs of investment.

The result of subsidiary is accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable at the
reporting date. All dividends whether received out of the
investee's pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised

in the Company’s profit or loss.

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statement of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency of the individual entity using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At the reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the reporting
date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange rates

at the transaction date).

2. FESTBRBE S

2.2

2.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETEHESRE®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment 24 M- BEREE

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-
of-use assets as described in Note 2.9) are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the asset. Depreciation commences

when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the term of lease

or 25%, whichever is shorter

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer equipment 25%
Motor vehicles 25%

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in

profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are

incurred.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® &M ARA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETBHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments

25 @I A

Recognition and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual

provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,

cancelled or expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15,
all financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are
expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and
effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the
following categories:

—  amortised cost;

- FVTPL; or

—  fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI").
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® EEZERBR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR HmR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
(continued)

The classification is determined by both:

— the entity’s business model for managing the

financial asset; and

— the contractual cash flow characteristics of the

financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that
are recognised in profit or loss are presented within
finance costs or other income, except for expected credit
losses ("ECL") of trade receivables which is presented

within administrative expenses.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

— they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect

its contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in other income
in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the
effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash
and bank balances and trade and other receivables
(excluding prepayments) fall into this category of financial

instruments.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® &M ARA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHBEBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (continued)

25 @I R @)

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, lease liabilities and amounts due to directors/a

director.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted
for transaction costs unless the Group designated a
financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method except for derivatives and
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised

in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges are included in profit or loss.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note
2.9.

Trade and other payables and amounts due to
directors/a director

Trade and other payables and amounts due to directors/
a director are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

effective interest method.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® EEZERBR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR HmR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Impairment of financial assets and contract

assets

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use more forward-
looking information to recognise ECL — the "ECL model”.
Instruments within the scope included loans and other
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost,
trade receivables, contract assets recognised and
measured under HKFRS 15.

The Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL,
including past events, current conditions, reasonable
and supportable forecasts that affect the expected

collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is
made between:

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition
or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1”) and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition

and whose credit risk is not low (“Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective

evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category
while “lifetime ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2
category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life

of the financial instrument.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® &M ARA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHEEME#)
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Impairment of financial assets and contract

26 THMEERGNEERE#E)

assets (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at
each reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls
in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for
default at any point during the life of the financial assets.
In calculating the ECL, the Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets
relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for
the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the ECL rates for trade receivables are
a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the

contract assets.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of

default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Impairment of financial assets and contract

2. FESTBRBE S

26 THMEERGNEERE#E)

assets (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(continued))

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial assets
at the reporting date with the risk of default occurring
on the financial assets at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly:

—  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit

spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability

to meet its debt obligations;

—  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® &M ARA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETBHEBER)

POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets (continued)

26 THMEERGNEERE#E)

REBERATENEBESRMEE (F)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(continued))
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Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased

significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument

have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the

borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash

in economic and business conditions in the longer term EEEREE
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the EERRIRE -
borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables, contract assets and other financial assets

measured at amortised cost are set out in Note 28.3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETBHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

27 FEMEERE

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets) and the Company’s interest in a subsidiary
are subject to impairment testing. They are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the

asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market
conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessment of time value

of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit

level.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units
is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-generating
unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value less cost of

disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of

depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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Boltek Holdings Limited * =tz AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and
in hand and demand deposits with banks with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Leases

The Group as lessee

(Policy applicable from 1 January 2019)

Definition of a lease

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 January
2019, the Group considers whether a contract is, or
contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part
of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in
exchange for consideration’. To apply this definition, the
Group assesses whether the contract meets three key
evaluations which are whether:

e the contract contains an identified asset, which is
either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset is
made available to the Group;

e the Group has the right to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use, considering its
rights within the defined scope of the contract; and

e the Group has the right to direct the use of the
identified asset throughout the period of use. The
Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how
and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout
the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease and non-lease component on the basis of their
relative stand-alone prices.

2.8

2.9
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® EEZERBR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHBEBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Leases (continued)

29 HE(#E)

The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEREBA (E)
(Policy applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued) (B=F—NF—H—HEFHZHE)
(&)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset
is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial
measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end
of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance
of the lease commencement date (net of any lease

incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement date
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-
use asset or the end of the lease term unless the Group
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the end of
the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use

asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability at the present value of the lease payments
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily

determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate.
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Boltek Holdings Limited * =tz AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHBEBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Leases (continued)

29 HE(#E)

The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEREBA (E)
(Policy applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued) (B=F—NF—H—HEFHZHE)
(&)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
(continued|)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable payments based on an index or rate,
and amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be
reduced for lease payments made and increased for
interest cost on the lease liability. It is remeasured to
reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or if there
are changes in in-substance fixed payments. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as expense in the period on which the

event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit
and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to

zero.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-
of-use assets have been included in “property, plant and
equipment”, the same line as it presents the underlying

assets of the same nature that it owns.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of

right-of-use assets.
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Boltek Holdings Limited o iz AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR HmR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
(Policy applicable before 1 January 2019)

Definition of a lease

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use
a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time
in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such
a determination is made based on an evaluation of
the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of

whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
being held under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified as operating

leases.

(i)  Operating lease charges as the lessee
Where the Group has the right to use assets held
under operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the time
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased
assets. Lease incentives received are recognised in
profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net

lease payments made.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® &M ARA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETBHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Provisions

210 #45

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and

adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

2.11 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have
been issued. Any transaction costs associated with the
issuing of shares (net of any related income tax benefit)
are deducted from share premium to the extent they
are incremental cost directly attributable to the equity

transaction.

2.11
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EREHBEBER)
POLICIES (continued)
2.12 Revenue recognition 212 W TR

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised P RE SR A R P R AR B o R

goods or services to customers in an amount that BOWReH BRAERMAEETE

reflects the consideration to which the Group expects AR BmZEEmX R B EESD

to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. RE-ABME  AEBES AR KR

Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue B T & 25 8% -

recognition:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer FE—F BRIREFITINEL

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the EH: BREHNPHENBE
contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price E=H: BEXRHER

Step4: Allocate the transaction price to the ENL: BRGEBERIBESHNFTH
performance obligations in the contract BHEE

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity FRT: REBTKBROEER (3
satisfies a performance obligation th) BER U AR

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a NEERTKE QT ER (SH) &

performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” R RN EEBRNEEHBNE

of the goods or services underlying the particular mm kARG [RGB TR PR o

performance obligation is transferred to customers.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® &M ARA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Revenue recognition (continued)

Control of the asset may be transferred over time or at a

point in time. Control of the asset is transferred over time

if:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance

as the Group performs;

the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or

enhanced; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

If the control of the asset transfers over time, revenue

is recognised over the period of the contract by

reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction

of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is

recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the asset.

(a)

Engineering design and consultancy service

Revenue from engineering design and consultancy
service contracts is recognised progressively
based on the contract costs incurred to date as
a percentage of total forecast costs to depict the
transfer of control of the goods or services to the
customer. The Group recognises revenue over time
only if it can reasonably measure its progress toward

complete satisfaction of the performance obligation.

However, if the Group cannot reasonably measure
the outcome but expects to recover the costs
incurred in satisfying the performance obligation,
then it recognises revenue to the extent of the costs

incurred.
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Boltek Holdings Limited o iz AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(b)

Engineering design and consultancy service
(continued))

Incremental cost of obtaining a contract is
capitalised if the Group expects to recover those
costs, unless the amortisation period for such costs
would be one year or less. Costs that will be incurred
regardless of whether the contract is obtained are

expensed as they are incurred.

The Group presents a contract liability or a contract
asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position when either party to the contract has
performed. The Group performs by transferring
goods or services to the customer, and the customer
performs by paying consideration to the Group. Any
unconditional rights to consideration are presented

separately as “Trade and other receivables”.

Contract liabilities are obligations to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration, or for which an amount of

consideration is due from the customer.

Contract assets are rights to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group
has transferred to a customer when that right is
conditional on something other than the passage of

time.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability of unrelated

contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Other service revenue are recognized in the period

when services are rendered.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is

applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® &M ARA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETBHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)
2.13 Government grants

213 U # B

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to

compensate, are expensed.

Government grants relating to income is presented
in gross under “other income” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

2.14 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through

defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefit plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic

salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as employees render services during the year. The
Group's obligations under these plans are limited to the

fixed percentage contributions payable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHBEBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Employee benefits (continued) 214 EERERI (&)

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of

services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.

Long service payment

Certain of the Group's employees have completed the
required number of years of service to the Group in
order to be eligible for long service payment under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in the event of the
termination of their employment. The Group is liable to
make such payment in the event that such a termination
of employment meets the circumstances specified in the

Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The long service payment liabilities are the present
value of long service payment obligation less the
entitlements accrued under the Group's defined
contribution retirement benefit plans that is attributable

to contributions made by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETBHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Accounting for income taxes

215 RSB E FH R

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the
fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable
profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense

in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax

credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither

taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse

in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEEHBERBE @)

POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Accounting for income taxes (continued) 215 FAIBBINEHER (&)
Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax BEERIBDIZTBHRNEEABEREIR
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability EENREANBRETE (TEFRR) -
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted EEBEBERRERBRERE Bk
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. B BRI -
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are REREEENAEEH N BT H®E
recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive TR ok fin B2 H fh 2 T U 55 Bk B B R B
income or directly in equity if they relate to items that are mHRETAWIEE B - BIREM
charged or credited to other comprehensive income or EHEHWEIEERERTER -

directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of g A FERR TR M ER A AR B R
taxable profit, deferred tax assets and liabilities are FREFREBEEENMBEHRAEHRE A
measured using the average tax rates that are expected REREETERREBMEBR 2 ERE
to apply to the taxable profit of the periods in which the A BT EET R o

temporary differences are expected to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires an EEFHOREAFTN)NEEERE
estimation of (1) when the existing temporary differences A TR OE N Q) ZEFEKRKER
will reverse and (2) the amount of future taxable profit A B o KRR IE R m Fl (T B 1
in those years. The estimate of future taxable profit

includes:

—  profit or loss excluding reversals of temporary — TEEROERESECEZ K

differences; and

—  reversals of existing temporary differences. — REOIRBERER-
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTBRBE S
POLICIES (continued)
2.15 Accounting for income taxes (continued) 215 FAIBBINEHER (&)

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented BV ERRR IR & = B B BA TR 18 B B {E R IA

in net if, and only if, THERAFEZS

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off (@) ANEBEIEFREINTTREA LA
the recognised amounts; and ERERSBLEE &

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise (b) ErEICAFREREEL Bl [F &I
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. BEERGEAE-

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax AEEERUTERFEZIRE

liabilities in net if, and only if, MIEE ERELERIERE

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off @) ZERBEEFREIAITER LA
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and A EEENBATHEREY

8 &

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax b) BEEMREEEHREHEARGRE
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same B8 70 [R] — 250 75 4% B L LA T (E fa] —
taxation authority on either: B PR PR S A -

(i) the same taxable entity; or (i) F—FERREE: X

(i) different taxable entities which intend either (i) EFTEIR SRR AR (T8 HAfE
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a el Rl S - S EIPN
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the HERRERIBEEEREE) U
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period FRHEALELEENHBIEAE
in which significant amounts of deferred tax HEENIRAKREREERF
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled BEENTRERTES -

or recovered.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEEHBERBE @)

POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Segment reporting 216 D EBEHwE
The Group identifies operating segments and prepares AEERBEHRMFELERKESR
segment information based on the regular internal BABRRERAEEXBAKB S B
financial information reported to the chief operating BIR D B E B R E Rt 52 S ED
decision maker for their decisions about resources PHREN AT EEREELE D
allocation to the Group'’s business components and for HRERDEEE

their review of the performance of those components.

2.17 Related parties 217 BH R
For the purposes of these consolidated financial NEZEFEEUBHREMES  FaUT
statements, a party is considered to be related to the 11 A THAR A B RN 55 (B 5 RE Bt
Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that @ RATRFELATESER ALK
person’s family and if that person: HEBmREKE :
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; iy HAREEAEEGHENERZE
i 4
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAEBEEANTE : X
(i) is a member of the key management personnel (i) ARASEIAEEZTRFH
of the Group or of a parent of the Group. FEFHEKE °
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Related parties (continued)
(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the

same group.

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity

is a member).

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of

the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of

a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the

Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.

2. FESTBRBE S

217 BB (&)
b) ZALREBANAATEMIE

f

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs 3. RMFFTRKLEITE BN BREE

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning or after 1 January 2019

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
following new and amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
which are relevant to the Group's operations and effective for
the Group's consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning on 1 January 2019:

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

HK (IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments

Other than as noted below, the adoption of the new and
amended HKFRSs had no material impact on how the results
and financial position for the current and prior periods have
been prepared and presented.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 “Leases” replaces HKAS 17 “Leases” along
with three Interpretations (HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, HK(SIC)-Int 15
"Operating Leases-Incentives” and HK(SIC)-Int 27 “Evaluating
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of
a Lease”). HKFRS 16 has been applied using the modified
retrospective approach, with the cumulative effect of adopting
HKFRS 16 being recognised in equity as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings for the current period.
Prior periods have not been restated.

Before the application of HKFRS 16, the Group considered
refundable rental deposits paid as rights and obligations
under leases to which HKAS 17 applied. Based on the
definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits
are not payments relating to the right to use of the underlying
assets and should be adjusted to reflect the discounting effect
at transition. As the discounting effect is not significant, no
adjustment was made to the refundable rental deposits paid
at the date of initial application, 1 January 2019.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® &M ARA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs

(continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning or after 1 January 2019
(continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

Instead of performing an impairment review on the right-of-
use assets at the date of initial application, the Group has
relied on its historic assessment as to whether leases were
onerous immediately before the date of initial application of
HKFRS 16.

On transition, for leases previously accounted for as operating
leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months, the
Group has applied the optional exemptions to not recognise
right-of-use assets but to account for the lease expense on a

straight-line basis over the remaining lease term.

For contracts in place at the date of initial application, the
Group has elected to apply the definition of a lease from
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 and has not applied HKFRS 16
to arrangements that were previously not identified as lease
under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4.

The Group has elected not to include initial direct costs in the
measurement of the right-of-use asset for operating leases in
existence at the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, being
1 January 2019. At this date, the Group has also elected to
measure the right-of-use assets at its carrying amount as if
HKFRS 16 had been applied since the commencement date,
but discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate

at the date of initial application.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to

lease liabilities recognised under HKFRS 16 was 4.0%.

3.

RN RAEERI BB BREE
Al )
R-B-NF-A-—BHZEFAENF
EHE LR KRBT EBUBR
HEL (&)
ERNBRELENE16KHAE](E)
AEERBEANEXRERERTBUBR
SERE 1R BERAMEEAHEHERTE
ERRENG - MIENERER B HHEER
REELETHESR -

RBER - BER ARINERLLHE AR
HEIRR2EANEE  AEEDERE
BUMemM T TEAEREEE  ERFIH
MBMNERERERERX -

BRRERERABHEREZEHN  AEEER
BEBBABGHEAE17HREEL (BRM
BHREREZBEG) REBEIRAETNZHE
X% AYHEMURRBEFL G ERNE
7R EEE (BRMERE2REZES) -
BEFINEEREENTHLBEAEE
M mEERF 165

AEBRETHIIAERER A ABRER
BEEMBREENE 165K 2B (BTN
F-A—R)BEFENKLHENERZE
BED  -RAB  AEEMEEURAENE
EREEE  BOAHREHEERATEM
BmEERE 16 BERABEAEER
ez BRRIBIEENRETHR -

REFEBMBRELEANF1RERNEE
BENMETHIZEEEMNERL0% -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs 3

(continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning or after 1 January 2019

(continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

The following is a reconciliation of total operating lease

commitments at 31 December 2018 to the lease liabilities

recognised at 1 January 2019:

RN RAEERI BB BREE
Al )
R-B-NF-A-—BHZEFAENF
EHE LR KRBT EBUBR
HEL (&)
ERNBRELENE16KHAE](E)

TE - NFTZA=t+T—RZKEHEER
ERBER—_FT-NF-A - BHERAZHEE
BEHKRMT

HK$'000
THETT
Total operating lease commitments disclosed at R N\F+_A=+—8HFF
31 December 2018 BEZREMERERR 6,436
Committed but not yet commenced leases as at RZZE-N\F+ZH=+—H
31 December 2018 EAGEERRERZEE (532)
Recognition exemptions: HERER -
— Leases with remaining lease term of —FepEBOR T @A ZEE
less than 12 months (118)
Operating leases liabilities before discounting MR RERERE 5,786
Discounting using incremental borrowing rate asat EZ_-_FT—hF—A—HZHESEE
1 January 2019 =L (228)
Total lease liabilities recognised under HKFRS 16 at ~ RZ=ZF—NF— H —BRBEBF BV
1 January 2019 WMEEF16RERZEEAER
# 5,558
Classified as: DR
Current lease liabilities mEHEAR R 1,886
Non-current lease liabilities FmEBHEEARE 3,672
5,558

The following table summarises the impact of transition to

TERBAEEEFBH B REENE 165
HAEBR -_T-NF-—HA—BZ#&

HKFRS 16 on the Group's consolidated statement of financial =3
position at 1 January 2019: BIRRAKRNZE :
HK$'000
T
Increase in right-of-use assets presented in property R % « BENKEHEZ5 2
plant and equipment 12 F3 #E & EE 1L N 5,446
Increase in lease liabilities HE & FEEM 5,558
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities R IE B FEE (15)
Decrease in retained earnings REE BB (97)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs 3.
(continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs have been
published but are not yet effective, and have not been

adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business*

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform!

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material’
and HKAS 8

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

9 Effective date not yet determined
Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period

beginning on or after 1 January 2020

The directors anticipate that all the new and amended HKFRSs
will be adopted in the Group's accounting policy for the first
period beginning after the effective date of such standards.
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and amended HKFRSs upon initial
application. Currently it has been considered that adoption
of them is unlikely to have a material impact on the Group's

results of operations and financial position.

RN RAEERI BB BREE
Al )

CHEME R RERNE BT B HREER
RaEFEEMBHRRERERY  AEEY
BRERMNETEHEME B RERZHFT
MBI BN RELER

BB RS R REAE %2
F17 58

BAMBREEN REFEHBZENQF
F10RREBELEE HEECEBZE
AR5 28 5% EHESTE
(EFTA)

BAMBREEL EBHER’

% 358 (BRI A)

BAMBREEN  FERERERE
F% - BAEGS
ERE 395 REE
B 75 RS 2R
E75% (BFTA)

BERGHEAE IR BEANEHR*
REEGER
857 (EFTA)

! R-ZB_FE-—F-BRZRFRNFERRELE
bos

? R-B_—F— A BRZERFERNFERELE
bos

2 AR A B AREE

HYBRARAR T _FTFE—A BRI ZRFEN

BEFEHRRARERZROEBSHREER

BB AR

IS

EHEAMAHIAREIBEEMBRE
B 7 5% 5 A R AR 2 A B R 10 & B R
AREBESFTBRATRM - NEBE EHE S %
EHA LB B EM B REEREN A
EREOTZEEITHEG - BAT ARERR
LHRBEMBREENNERISHAE
BHEERE NV BIRNEREATE -

EFH
RIS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are discussed below:

(a) Revenue from contracts for engineering design

and consultancy services

As further explained in Note 2.12 to the consolidated
financial statements, revenue recognition on provision
of engineering design and consultancy services is
dependent on the estimation of the progress of the
satisfaction of performance obligation of a service
contract over time. Based on the Group’s past experience
and the nature of the contract activities undertaken by
the Group, the Group makes estimates of the point
at which it considers the work is sufficiently advanced
such that the costs to complete and the revenue can
be reliably estimated. Actual outcome in terms of total
contract costs and/or revenue may be higher or lower
than those estimated at the end of each reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in

future years.

Significant judgement is required to estimate the total
contract costs and the recoverable variation works
that will affect whether any provision is required for
foreseeable losses. The estimates are made based
on past experience and knowledge of the project

management.
Details of the revenue, contract balances and provision

for an onerous contact are disclosed in Note 5, Note 16

and Note 18 respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b) Estimation for impairment of trade and other

(c)

receivables (excluding prepayments) and contract
assets

The Group makes allowances on trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments) and contract assets
to ECL based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected credit loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period as
set out in Note 2.6.

Details of the trade and other receivables and contract

assets are disclosed in Note 15 and Note 16, respectively.

Determination of the lease term in lease
contracts and discount rate

In determining the lease term, management considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension options, or not exercise

a termination option. Factors considered include:

e  contractual terms and conditions for the optional
periods compared with market rates (e.g. whether
the amount of payments in the optional periods is

below the market rates);

e the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken

by the Group;

e costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g.
relocation costs, costs of identifying another

underlying asset suitable for the Group'’s needs)

Extension options (or periods after termination options)
are only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated),
which in turn affect the carrying amounts of lease

liabilities and corresponding right-of-use assets.

4. TEGFHETTRHAE &)

(b) BESREMEWRE(FTRERAN

(c)

FIE) R &N EENRE G

AEERBEORREAEHREEEE
RNRRETEE S M EADREFE (T
BRENKE) ARENEEEDREER
BRI EB R - R E26ME - &
SEUAEENBEES - BRITHNR
RATEM G REE  REREHR
RAABELZERRIEZH AR
BEITRERH -

EREZMNEMBEREFTBEAREGNE
ENFBERERHE 1S RME16-

BEEHESHcHERERAR

EHEETHERRN EEEZRELTT
AR R (N PITER IR ERE)
MEEERNAESTERBR - ME
BRREZEE

o FEHIEMA FRRLIGFET
35 F) R 8t 8 (7140 7 5 HA R e £
REBELERTHHR)

s AKEETHEMERENREE:

e ERIHERMNER (PIRE
ERAMEENAEAKEFT NS
—AEREENER)

EEABASEBEHER (TR
EHRE) R EHRERERE (RRLEEE
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TEHERBEREENERAEEEN
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. TEGFHETTRHAE &)

JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(c) Determination of the lease term in lease (c) BEEHEASNZHBRUMERERE &)
contracts and discount rate (continued)
In determining the discount rate, the Group is required RETUMRER AEEERHEER
to exercise considerable judgement in relation to BEBRREHEMBE  EREBEE
determining the discount rate taking into account the ERME B ZEE 8RR AR B
nature of the underlying assets and the terms and EEE AR R IED B A HE -

conditions of the leases, at both the commencement

date and effective date of the modification.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERDEER
5.1 Revenue 5.1 W=
The Group's principal activities are disclosed in Note REE F XA E R MIEE 1.1
1.1 to the consolidated financial statements. Revenue is BEE - e — RIS A M BERR R R
recognised over time and is disaggregated by nature of TR RERREOMEESEAT

engineering design and consultancy services as follows:

2019 2018
—E-hIF —T-)N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET TAETT

Civil engineering TARIIE
- Road & structural engineering —ERREETRE 57,602 40,125
— Geotechnical engineering =t 8,799 8,221
— Others —Hfth 6,411 5,695
72,812 54,041
Traffic engineering RMTIE 22,191 27,178
Building engineering BFITiE 3,478 2,380
Other ancillary services Hin Al =R 2,239 4,823
100,720 88,422
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W@k IEHR (@)

(continued)

5.1 Revenue (continued) 5.1 W& (&)
Under the contracts with customers, each engineering BEEZFHNAL R ITRERTEE
design and consultancy service contract relates to facts MREaNEHEZGEESM S BRI
and circumstances that are specific to each customer. WEERBAEH GHBKREBES
Contract terms provide the Group with an enforceable EEKBAMEEENKANLESERE
right to payment, for its performance completed to date, N 2R (A AR SR E AR A AT A T A FRAE R
of its costs incurred plus a reasonable margin.
Remaining performance obligations FRBREE
The following table includes revenue expected to TREEBRHEENRBEEREE#A
be recognised in the future related to performance RZE-NLERZZE-—NFE+A
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at =+ —BrEKRFE GBS EREE)
31 December 2019 and 2018. BWEABEE W -

At 31 December

2019
R-ZE-IF
+t=RA=+—H
HK$'000
FHET

Remaining performance obligations expected EHERBZEATHEHLEFE

to be satisfied during the year ending BENESENEE

31 December 2020 —E-FHF+A=t—H 79,698
31 December 2021 —F-—F+-A=+—H 29,940
After 31 December 2021 —T-—%+-A=t—H% 49,694
159,332

At 31 December

2018
RZZE—N\F
+=A=+—H
HK$'000
FAT

Remaining performance obligations expected to FEMISAEE LT BHILFE

be satisfied during the year ending BENESENEE

31 December 2019 —F-NE+=ZA=t—H 67,780
31 December 2020 —E-TF+-_HA=+—H 23,996
After 31 December 2020 —E-FTF+-_A=+—H#% 18,187
109,963
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W@k IEHR (@)

(continued)

5.2 Segment information 5.2 fE&EHR
The chief operating decision maker has been identified FELERFERRERARRAMT
as the executive directors of the Company. The executive EF - PTESTHASEREIRR
directors regard the Group’s business of provision of T REERGHEBRRRE —KED
engineering design and consultancy services as a single B WERBAEEEE I EE  URE
operating segment and reviews the overall results of RABCAELIRE - EUL - WERZSDH
the Group as a whole to make decision about resources DITEHR o

allocation. Accordingly, no segment analysis information

is presented.

Geographical information i 72 & R
No separate analysis of segment information by HRAEENKRRRIERBDEEETE
geographical segment is presented as the Group's BRE BRI (FH)  RELEZ
revenue and non-current assets are principally HIE IR S EE D H D HERIEL AT ©
attributable to a single geographical region, which is
Hong Kong.
Information about major customers EREXEEFNER
Revenue from customers which individually contributed 18 Bl {72 £ B U5 25 168 38 10% B9 & P 1R
over 10% of the Group's revenue is as follows: =R
2019 2018
—E-hIF —T-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FETT
Customer A EFEA 14,877 10,835
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6. OTHER INCOME 6. EHAbUA
2019 2018
—R-nE —F-NF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Bank interest income HRAT RS WA 1,052 324
Government subsidies (note) BT e B (B =) 211 220
Sundry income FHIERA = 24
1,263 568
Note: Subsidies have been received from the Hong Kong Vocational Training Mzt BEEEREIRBREEXZSESHEY - ZF
Council and the Construction Industry Council, institutions established by BEDBEBRINTRERNRMRE TREMREE
the HKSAR Government, for providing on-the-job training for graduate BERBEEREINMER L - EBEZEMAA
engineers and trainees, respectively. There were no unfulfilled conditions REKIGHHRAEE -
or contingencies relating to these subsidies.
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MERAK
2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
Fax T
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBEREER 215 -
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8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

8. BRFATSHAIEF

2019 2018
—B-hEF T—\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&ET FET
Profit before income tax is stated after BR BT 45 25 Al A A8 40 BR LA T %18
charging: IS H -
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ @ BIXRAN(BEZ=EEHE)
emoluments) (Note 12(a)) (note) (KF5E12(a)) (BFEE))
— Salaries, wages, bonus and other —Fe L& BN
benefits H b 48 A 61,634 50,692
— Contributions to defined contribution — [A] R SRR R ET 2 3K
retirement plans 1,995 1,633
63,629 52,325
(b) Other items (b) HIEB
Depreciation (included in administrative WE GIATEES)
expenses)
— Owned assets —BEEE 910 586
— Right-of-use assets —ERAEEE 2,347 -
Subconsultancy fees (included in cost of HBE (GTARBKA)
services) 6,088 8,167
Auditors’ remuneration 1% ERD Bl & 620 620
Short-term leases charges and leases RHHEEARRERER
charges with lease term shorter than B B 75 R 22 Y 55 16 9%
12 months as at initial application of REHASE12EANEE
HKFRS 16 £H 118 =
Operating lease charges in respect of EHEMEEMENLE
leased premises HEEH = 2,267
ECL allowance on: AN %18 2 TE HA
EEEIBEME
— contract assets —GHEE 155 =
— trade receivables — B SR RIE 380 —
Listing expenses EmAX - 17,762
Note: B EE -
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) BINA (BIEESHE)
2019 2018
S —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHIT
Cost of services BRF B A 51,504 41,856
Administrative expenses TERF X 12,125 10,469
63,629 52,325
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FAIBHMAX
2019 2018
—E-hIF —E-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax ERBMNEHERE

— Current tax — B HAF: 18 3,144 3,032
— Statutory tax concession —EEBUOR % (20) (30)
3,124 3,002

Deferred tax (Note 22) FEIEFEIA (M 5E22)
— Current tax —BERmiTE 138 28
— Effect of change in tax rates —MEEHHNTE = (6)
138 22
3,262 3,024

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2019 is calculated
at 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits
for the year, except for Mannings, a subsidiary of the Group,
which is a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HK$2 million of profits of qualifying entities are
taxed at 8.25%, and the profits above HK$2 million are taxed
at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this

subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 2018.

-z ﬂi%ﬁ:&ﬂ SHBHERF NG E
A REH 16.5% (ZF—)\F : 16.5%) 51 &
K%ZS%@—FQWJ%’AE%%U&(Z%é.“é%ﬁ
A AN UFIB MR BIETE - REBEF S
A H - BEREEBIR8.25% 2 Bl R i 7
B2BE BB LBHMILIE - WIK165% 2 B &
BM2EBBIT a2 BE - ZMEA
ﬂaﬁiﬁ;‘%ﬂ SHEENE - \FHA
HEE
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9. Fﬁ?%mﬁﬁs'w%)
Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting 1550 = B & 5t i A 2 R #2 E FR A R E
profit at applicable tax rate: 'C|1' Zjé‘TEEQDT -
2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Profit before income tax bR BT 15 84 B4 A 19,760 1,586
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% REBNEHBE16.5%EH
BiIR 3,260 262
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR A 2 B s 2 8 187 2,963
Effect of two-tiered profits tax rates regime  FI4S %t i 4 il 2 72 & (165) (165)
Effect on opening deferred tax balance arising 4 N ¥ i X & 8) F= 4 2 F 1R
from a change in tax rates during the year MBS T8 = (6)
Statutory tax concession Y TE Bt ORI % (20) (30)
Income tax expense TS 8 2 3,262 3,024
10. DIVIDENDS 10. B2
The directors did not recommend the payment of a dividend EETERRERZE _T-NEFR_ZF—N
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. F+-—A=+—H Jtifﬁ’]ﬂ” g
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11. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE M"M.8RER,(&E#E)

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share attributable
to equity holders of the Company is based on the following:

AR AN EESRERRF] (6
18) TR A THE

2019 2018
—E-hF —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Profit/(Loss) BRI (EE)
Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to equity ANA A=A ABIEEA
holders of the Company wm A, (E518) 16,498 (1,438)
Number of shares P& &
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  J#& ¥ E @RS E (FAR)
(in thousands) 800,000 660,274
HK Cents HK Cents
Al eIl
Basic earnings/(loss) per share FREREF, (FE) 2.06 (0.22)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to
calculate the basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2019 is 800,000,000 ordinary shares in issue during
the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to
calculate the basic loss per share for the year ended 31
December 2018 includes (i) 1 and 1,999 ordinary shares in issue
at beginning of the year and during the year respectively;
(i) 599,998,000 new ordinary shares issued pursuant to the
Capitalisation Issue (Note 23(b)(iii)), as if all these shares had
been in issue throughout the year ended 31 December 2018,
and (iii) 60,274,000 shares, representing the weighted average
of 200,000,000 new ordinary shares issued pursuant to the
Share Offer (Note 23(c)).

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 and therefore,
diluted earnings/(loss) per share equals to basic earnings/(loss)

per share.

BHE—_Z—-NE+-A=+—BItEE B
PARHE &I E AR A & 0 15 E AR 2
B A% AT 217 H 800,000,000 A% i@ A% ©

HE_Z—\Ft+_A=+—HLtFE" B
NErEBREAREENMETH L BRE
BEREOFIORFADRIEETIRE,999
AR E B (i) AR IR & ANME 21T (P 5E 23(b)(ii))
B 817 #9599,998,000 §% 37 X @ AR - 0P
BEZERONBE-_ZE—\F+_A=+—
HIEFE B 39T - & (ii)60,274,000 B A% 7 -
BRI IR 0 B B (B 7k 23(c)) B BT hnHE
£ #5 200,000,000 A% 37 & 3@ % o

BE-T-AER-F-NFT-A=t—
BLEEE  BREEREEAR  BiER
#EEF/ (FR) SNEREREFH, (B
) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHEZ=F

—NEFETZA=t—RHILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments, disclosed

BEBREFAL

12. EERTETHRAEBNMEURE

(a) E%&IE?‘TE&AEE’J@HQ

RIZEGEM EAR A -

A BB ZE 383(1)

pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of (Y5O (T&Eﬁi%ﬂ S &R R OIE
the CO and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of 2B BN ES RFEEITHA S8
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as ST
follows:
Salaries,
allowances,  Discretionary Retirement
and benefits Bonuses scheme
Fees in !(ind (note (v)  contributions Total
§6-2%  BEEL 0 B )
e RENEF () HEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Thn ThARL Thn Thn
Year ended 31 December 2019 BZ-3-NE12R
St-HLEE
Executive directors: HTEE -
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REFERL
(chief executive officer) (rHag)
(note (i)&(it)) (B () e i) 2,400 1,500 21 3,927
Mr. Ng Pak Hung ﬁr‘%ﬁ
(note (i)&(i) (B ) R i) - 1,440 300 2 1,767
- 3,840 1,800 54 5,694
Indlependent non-executive directors:  BUHHTEE :
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam CEeS e 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion REREE 120 - - 120
Mr. Chan Wan Fung REetht 120 - - 120
360 - - - 360
360 3,840 1,800 54 6,054
Year ended 31 December 2018 BHE_E-\&E+Z4
=t-RLEE
Executive directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar irgis= ik
(chief executive officer) (Tmas)
(note ()& (i) (B ) Be i) - 2400 1,500 27 3927
Mr. Ng Pak Hung %Eﬂgﬁ
(note (i)&(i) GEAOYAD) - 1,350 500 7 1877
- 3750 2,000 54 5804
Independent non-executive directors:  BUFHTEE :
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam [FRubeS it 3% - - - 3%
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion BREGREE 3 - - - 36
Mr. Chan Wan Fung REELE 3 - - = 3%
108 - - - 108
108 3750 2,000 54 5912
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar was a director of the Company’s subsidiary
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 and was
appointed as a director of the Company on 18 April 2018 and
redesignated as an executive director of the Company on 20
August 2018.

Mr. Ng Pak Hung was an employee of the Company’s subsidiary
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 and was
appointed as a director of the Company on 18 April 2018 and
redesignated as an executive director of the Company on 20
August 2018.

The emoluments shown above were for the services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Group during the years

ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to a director as an inducement to join or
upon the Group or as compensation for loss of office as a director

or management of any members of the Group.

The discretionary bonuses are determined by reference to the
financial performance of the Group and the performance of

individual director.

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, there was no
arrangement under which a director has waived or agreed to waive

any emolument.

12.EERFETHRAENMESLURE
BEREHEALT®)

(a) EBERFETHRAEBNME (&)

G

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

REEEENRBE_Z-NAFR-_ZT-N
F+t_A=T—BLFEAARRMELR
AMNEERR-_Z-N\FHA+NBEZ
ERARRES YN _F-NFNA=+
HERERARBHITES -

REBEERBE_FT-AFRE_FT—N
F+t_A=T-"BALFEAARRMELR
AMNEERR_Z-N\FOA+NBEER
ERARRES YN _FT-NAFNA-+
HEBAERARBHITES -

biiMeEaREEARERBEE—Z—A
FRZBE-NFT+-A=+—HILFEHN
=R WA RSB 2

RBEZE-_ZT-—NFR=ZZF-NF+=A
=+—BILFE ARV ERESZMHE
A<  (ERMAREERMAREBELEH
BESIERREBEMKEARNESRY
B R o

BIBEAN2EAEERBERERALERE
EHRBAEE °

KRBE-T-AFR-FB-NF+=A
SRR EEEFEHERA N
FEMME RO EARY -
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 12 EERETETHRAEBNMEUR S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BEREHFAL
INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(b) Five Highest Individuals (b) EBBEHFAL
For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the five REBEEZZ-—NFRZZFE-N\F+=
individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the A=+—BLEFE AEEHNTH &
Group included two and two directors respectively. BHATORBEMRERMEES -
Details of the emoluments of the remaining three (2018: FRNBEEBT =R (ZE—/\F: =4)
three) highest paid individuals during the year are as R ATHMEFEAT
follows:
2019 2018
—E-N1F —E-)N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THT FAETT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 4,320 4,134
Discretionary bonuses B IEAL 560 980
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B 45 45
4,925 5,159
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e TR A TAR :
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-)N\F
Emolument bands: < 48 Al -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T Z 1,500,000 7% 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /& 7T Z& 2,000,000 7% 7T 2 3

1 44 Annual Report ¢ 2019



Boltek Holdings Limited © B E{ERBR AR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% - WERRZE

Right-of-  Leasehold Furniture ~ Computer Motor
use assets improvements  and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
FRESE HENEEE HEREE EHRE HE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TEn THL THL THL
At 1 January 2018 R-E-NF-A-H
Cost WA - 37 634 1,169 1,09 3230
Accumulated depreciation 2itE - (105) (227) (584) (952) (1,868)
Net book amount REFE = 232 407 585 138 1362
Year ended 31 December 2018 BEZE-)\%&
TZAZt-HLER
Opening net book amount ENREFE - 232 407 585 138 12362
Additions RE - - 192 507 - 699
Depreciation il - (59) (147) (327) (53) (586)
Closing net book amount FRRERE = 173 452 765 85 1475
At 31 December 2018 and RZE-NE+ZA=1-H
1 January 2019 R=F-1F-RA-A
Cost WA - 37 826 1676 1,09 399
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE - (164) (374) 911) (1,005) (2.454)
Net book amount REFE - 173 452 765 85 1,475
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE_EZ-hE+ZR
Zt-ALFE
Opening net book amount HOREFE - 173 452 765 85 1,475
Adjustment from the initial application & RERE B BREER
of HKFRS 16 (note 3) F165 M AL (zE3) 5,446 - - - - 5,446
Additions NE 1,052 - 194 2,200 234 3,680
Depreciation ik (2,347) (59) (168) (600) (83) (3,257)
Closing net book amount BREEFE 4,151 114 478 2,365 236 7,344
At 31 December 2019 RB-AFT=A=1-H
Cost ﬁﬁm 6,498 337 1,020 3,876 1,324 13,055
Accumulated depreciation 2iHTE (2,347) (223) (542) (1,511) (1,088) (5,711)
Net book amount REFE 4151 114 478 2,365 236 7,344

The Group has obtained the right to use premises through

tenancy agreements. The leases typically run on an initial

period of two to three years. The Group makes fixed payments
during the contract period. As at 31 December 2019, the
carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets in relation
to the premises are HK$4,151,000.

AEECEERBEERERNSZSUWENSE
FATE AN TR ER —BNFR-E=4F -
AEEEERBAAZNEERE KT
—NF+-_A=1+—H8 AEEEZZYE
BRAME AEEEREER 4,151,000487T ©
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14. R A T ER
R-B—-AER=_Z—\G+=-A=+—8 "
AARMBATREBMOT -

14. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December
2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Particulars of Equity
Place of issued and interest held
Name of incorporation Type of paid up by the
company and operation legal entity capital Company  Principal activities
EMAIR BRAR AT
RAEH Kem EEERERY BEREWHEE ke TEXHK
Directly held by the Company
ARAEERE
Richness Universal The BVI Limited liability 2,000 100%  Investment holding
KERZEE BRAQF ordinary shares (2018:100%) REZRK
of USD 1 each 100%
20008  (ZF-N\F:
B1ETR 100%)
=Rl
Indirectly held by the Company
ARARBEEE
Mannings Hong Kong Limited liability 5,000,000 100%  Provision of engineering
BRlt B BRAA ordinary shares (2018:100%) design and consultancy
5,000,000 fi% 100% services in Hong Kong
LAk (ZB-N\F: REBREIRRRR
100%)  BERH
15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 15. B2 R E AW KIE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
Trade receivables B 5 WA 30,332 24,301
Less: ECL allowance B BEEEEERE (380) -
29,952 24,301
Other receivables H {th g g 5k 18 3,941 4,075
Prepayments TR IR 151 2,258
Utility and other deposits AAEERAMIZS 127 188
34,171 30,822

The directors of the Company consider that the fair values of
trade and other receivables are not materially different from
their carrying amounts, because their balances have short

maturity periods on their inception.

1 46 Annual Report ¢ 2019

ARBEERS  ARE S REMBWKKIA
MEHRELENHNIMAREE - HHEQ
FEEERAEYTESAZR -



Boltek Holdings Limited * =tz AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 15. B 5% R H BRI ()

Trade receivables g2 EWRE

The Group usually provide customers with a credit term of 0 to AEERERAZTPREE0Z 60 BHEEHR -
60 days. For the settlement of trade receivables from provision HEERETIERTRERRENE S EK
of engineering design and consultancy services, the Group PIEME AREBREREENRNFHE
usually reaches an agreement on the term of each payment BEEKGZ AR (EREeR) BFPMNEE
with the customer by taking into account of factors such as, i MBBEMARSTEELEEST K
among other things, the credit history of the customer, its (RERBRMARTR) EEE - WAEKSE
liquidity position and the Group’s working capital needs, which B IR E B I R B e

varies on a case-by-case basis that requires the judgement

and experience of the management.

Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade BEEZREH 85 RWEIE NKRERE
receivables, net of ECL allowance, was as follows: EBERER) NRERITET
2019 2018
—E-NEF —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
0 - 30 days 0£30H 10,929 12,827
31 - 60 days 312 60H 4,503 3,194
61 —90 days 61£290H 2,713 2,010
91 — 365 days 91 & 365H 8,977 5,583
Over 365 days 838365 A 2,830 687
29,952 24,301
The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as o EWGIAEMTEHEE e EER T ¢
follows:
2019 2018
—F-hF —T-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAETT
Balance at 1 January R—H—BW4&eR = -
ECL allowance recognised during the year FADERAPEEEERE 380 =
Balance at 31 December RTZHA=1T—Hr &% 380 -
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15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 15.E5 R EMEWFRIE &)

Trade receivables (continued)

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are set out in Note
28.3.

Other receivables

No amounts in relation to other receivables were past due at
31 December 2019 and 2018.

ESRWRIEE)
HE_ZT-NFERE—NFF+_A=1+—
HIEFENE S EKFENRET GRS
FHHIFE28.3

H i FE W IR
VTEABEMEERENEZER_-_F N
FR-_FE-N\E+_A=+—B@EH-

16. CONTRACT BALANCES 16. EREERR

2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T THTT
Contract assets EHEE 12,362 8,504
Less: ECL allowance B TREE B ERE (155) =

Contract assets, net of ECL allowance EHEE MKREHER
EERE 12,207 8,504
Contract liabilities ABHAEE (163) (659)
12,044 7,845

The amount of revenue recognised during the year ended
31 December 2019 from performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods, mainly due to the changes in estimate of the
stage of completion, is HK$892,000 (2018: HK$1,029,000).

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's rights
to consideration for work completed but not billed at
the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred
to receivables when the rights become unconditional.
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced
consideration received from customers, for which revenue is
recognised based on the progress of the provision of related
services.

Change of contract assets during the year ended 31 December
2019 was mainly due to change in number of contract works
that relevant services were completed but yet been certified at
the end of the reporting period.
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16. CONTRACT BALANCES (continued) 16. ENEER ()
2019 2018
—E-hIF —T-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
Transfers from contract assets recognised at BRI G HNEEERE
the beginning of the year to receivables JE W kIR (6,323) (4,416)
2019 2018
—B-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET
Revenue recognised that was included in SAFTNEHNBERRE
the contract liabilities balance at B R
the beginning of the year 593 490
The balance of contract assets and contract liabilities are EHREENEGHABNERTERRN —FR
expected to be recovered/settled within one year. WEl A 4EE o
The movement in the ECL allowance of contract assets is as EHEENTEHECEEEEEENZEWNT -
follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THETT
Balance at 1 January R—HA—Bm&Es - -
ECL allowance recognised during the year REAERNTEREEFEREE 155 =
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—BM&EsH% 155 -
Details of impairment assessment of contract assets for the HE_Z—NF+-_A=+—HLFEHN
year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in Note 28.3. BHEERENGFBEEHRHIFE283
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17. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 17. RERBITHERR
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Cash at banks and in hand RITMFEB S 33,064 75,285
Short-term bank deposits G HRSRITIE R 56,077 -
89,141 75,285
Notes: B 2
(@)  Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit (a) SRITBEESESTHRITERFRZEFIRHREF S
rates.
(b)  The short-term bank deposits with original maturity of less than three by RESHBIR=ZTEANEHRERTERIZFENE
months earn 2.05% interest per annum. 2.05% 5t 8. °
The directors of the Group considered that the fair value of the short- HREHRTERERBEFTREHATE ik
term bank deposits is not materially different from their carrying amount REBEFRAHATEEHRAETESAZSR -

because of the short maturity period on their inception.
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18. PROVISIONS

Movements in provisions during the year are as follows:

18. 15

RERNBEHEZESOT :
An onerous Employee
contract benefits Total
BREEH EEEA et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
(Note (a)) (Note (b))

(FI5E () (Ff&E (o)

As at 1 January 2018 R—ZE—NF—H—H 1,910 296 2,206
(Realisation)/Provision during FRER) HE
the year (26) 26 =
As at 31 December 2018 and RZE—NF+=A
1 January 2019 =t+—HRZZ—hF
—H—H 1,884 322 2,206
(Realisation)/Provision during FR(BIE) S BHE
the year (14) 40 26
As at 31 December 2019 R=B-—h%F
+—-—HA=+—H 1,870 362 2,232
Notes: et -

(@)  Asat 31 December 2019, the Group had a provision of HK$1,870,000 (2018:
HK$1,884,000) for an onerous contract, of which the expected unavoidable
costs of meeting the performance obligation as stated in engineering
design and consultancy contract have exceeded the economic benefits
expected to be received. The provision was recognised for the contract

based on the estimated minimum net cost of completing the contract.

(b)  The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave and long

service payment.

@ RZE-AF+ZA=+—8 KAEEHEEBR
EEES LR #1,8700008 T (ZF— \4F:
1,884,000/87T) @ HHETT TR MER AN F
Pt B9 B 49 B A P EE A2 1 TR T AL SR PR S B i
BERAGESHORENE AKEEREZTKA
B fhEHRIERAF L% B A HER B -

b) EEBHNRBEFRREHRBENER -
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. B 5 R H B+ ;R
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET TAETT
Trade payables (note (a)) B S e FIE (@) 543 795
Accruals and other payables (note (b)) ~ fEFH & B M E R 5IR (FFE (b)) 6,110 1,264
6,653 2,059
Notes: B
(@)  The Group is usually granted by suppliers with a credit term of 0 to 30 (a) HEEETAEENEEHSR—MRA0ZE30H -
days.
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is as BHRNFERERAMNRERITOT
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
0- 30 days 0&30H - 185
31 - 60 days 312 60H 10 12
61 -90 days 61290H - 21
91 — 365 days 912 365H - 138
Over 365 days 38365 H 533 439
543 795
(b)  Included in the Group's accruals and other payables as at 31 December b) AEEBEE-_T-NF+-_A=+—HWEFE
2019 was an amount of HK$4,848,000 (2018: nil), which represented FB R EAth & 1< X008 B2 15 FE 5T B T 1E414,848,00078
accrued staff bonus . T(ZE—N\F: §\) -
(@  All amounts are short-term and hence, the carrying values of the Group's (@ MAERBAREM it KREHSEN A

MEFERUREMENRENRAERESR
FEMNAEALUE -

trade payables and accruals and other payables are considered to be a

reasonable approximation of fair value.
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20. LEASE LIABILITIES 20.  HEEE

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
of the Group’s lease liabilities:

TEREFJIAKEHRERBEZHR TEHEHA -

2019
—EB-hEF
HK$'000
THTT
Total minimum lease payments: HIREE R RAEHE
Due within one year —F A2 2,685
Due after one year but within two years —F1RERMF R H 1,917
4,602
Future finance charges on lease liabilities HERBARKREER (160)
Present value of lease liabilities HEREBRE 4,442
Present value of minimum lease payments: HEHENKIRE
Due within one year —EFRNIH 2,554
Due after one year but within two years —FIRERME N H 1,888
4,442
Less: Portion due within one year included B —FRIEHAFARBAEESRS
under current liabilities (2,554)
Portion due after one year included under —FRIBMAAFERDEBEL D
non-current liabilities 1,888

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at
1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. Comparative information as at 31 December 2018
has not been restated. Details of the transitions to HKFRS 16
are set out in Note 3.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the total cash
outflow for the leases is HK$2,501,000.

As at 31 December 2019, included in the above present value
of lease liabilities, balances of HK$625,000, HK$516,000,
HK$763,000, HK$1,232,000 and HK$413,000 represented lease
liabilities payable to Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar, Ms. Chiu Chui
Ping, Head Concept Limited, Jetek Company Limited and
Manita Company Limited, respectively.

AEBERAKEFTNEWINLRAETRE
MERELEAE16H IR —F—NF—
A— BB ANERARRELARIEETE
S ENBUROBAKEHENHES
HNEERE -R-F—N\F+_A=+—
BHLERERREET - BRERBYBR
SFERFE 16 FBHNMEES

BHE—_Z—-AE+-A=+—HItEE" A
EMIRE R 8% 752,501,0008 7T °

R-E-AF+-_A=+—HB -REta
HEREREDT K2 # 6250008 T
516,000 7% JT ~ 763,000 7T ~ 1,232,000 # 7T
K 413,000 8 TTHE 2 Bl AN FoRAFESRAL -
WRNELZLT B2—FARAR EBEARAF
REFERRARNEERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HHEZ=F

21.

22.

—NEFETZA=t—RHILFE

AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS/A DIRECTOR

The amounts due to directors/a director is non-trade in
nature. The amount due is unsecured, non-interest bearing
and repayable on demand. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018,
the amount represents discretionary bonuses to directors/a
director (refer to Note 12(a)).

DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences
under the liability method using taxation rate of the average
tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable profit of the
years in which the temporary differences are expected to be
utilised for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred

tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

21.

22.

ERESE —EEENE
ENES,/ —ZEEREEBIHFZEHHEE - %
FERTSIB A B - Tt B RIZERKIEE -
R-E—hER=_T—N\F+=-A=+—8"
ZNBEES —RESHRBEL (FL2
BT EE 12(a))

IEFER IR
LL%)C&IE@TF%Eiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ%%ﬁ S
MARARERBERARBEE_T—NAFR
—F-At+t=A :+—EI¢¢F£?EE@?§)JH%
B R B Z RE R F E EER DR M A P B K o

RENRGAEMBRAREK ETEEREE
ERBED B BERBGERONAT -
HHBEHEZA

2019 2018

—E-NE —E—N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT T T

Deferred tax assets EIEFRIE & B (126) -
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIAAE 402 153
276 153
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22. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 22. ERERLIE ()
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) REERARRAZTEREREGRE (B
recognised as at reporting date and movements thereon E)RERAFERBEFENZSHOT

during the current and prior years:

Accelerated Decelerated

ECL tax tax
allowance depreciation depreciation Total
BHEE EBIE HEBE
BEEE weE e e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET
As at 1 January 2018 R=—Z—-N§E—HF—H - 131 - 131
Effect of change in tax rates REEHOTE (HFE9)

(Note 9) - (6) - (6)
Charged to profit or loss (Note 9) R 1Bz 1k (FiFF9) - 28 - 28
As at 31 December 2018 and RZ=F—N\FE+=A

1 January 2019 =+-BR=B-N1F

—H—H - 153 - 153
Impact on initial application VR ER A B S A

of HKFRS 16 (Note 3) F16HMTE (HE3) - = (15) (15)
Adjusted balance as at R=Z-h%-—-A—AH

1 January 2019 RS =3 - 153 (15) 138
Credited/Charged to profit or AR/ BESTR

loss (Note 9) (BH5E9) (84) 249 (27) 138
As at 31 December 2019 R=ZB-NF+=H

== (84) 402 (42) 276
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group did not have RZE—NFERZE—N\F+ZA=1+—
any material unrecognised deferred tax assets/liabilities. B AEEWEEAERRBERRLETIEER
E/ A
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23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. BRA
Number of
shares HK$'000
gyl 2= FHET
Authorised: &T‘E
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each upon n= )\ﬁ@ A+ /\ B &
incorporation on 18 April 2018 (Note (a)) ﬁJZ R A% 0.01 78 T A AR
(Fif3E @) 10,000,000 100
Increase of authorised share capital A E IR (B EE (b))
(Note (b)(ii)) 1,490,000,000 14,900
As at 31 December 2018 and 2019 R=EB-NFR=ZF—HF
+=A=+—8H 1,500,000,000 15,000
Issued but not paid up: EERITHERMR :
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each RZZE-N\FMA+NR
upon incorporation on 18 April 2018 11 X 2 B & % 0.01 78 TTEY
(Note (a)) AR (Fat a) 1 =
Transfer to issued and fully paid upon REAREREEETRARE
Reorganisation (Note (b)(i)) (HF5E (b)) () =
As at 31 December 2018 and 2019 REB-NER=-Z-IF
+=H=+—H - -
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each upon RZZE—NFWMA+/\BEM
incorporation on 18 April 2018 (Note (a)) B 37 B =A% 0.01 78 JT By 3 @A
(K5 (a) - -
Transfer from issued and not paid upon the R E4H1& B E%ﬁ&fﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁi?ﬁ
Reorganisation (Note (b)(i)) w2 (P 5 (b)(7) 1 =
Issuance of ordinary shares (Note (b)(i)) BITEBER (WE b)(i)) 1,999 =
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to the — RIEE AL EE1TEIT LB
Capitalisation Issue (Note (b)(iii)) (Bt &% (b)(iii)) 599,998,000 6,000
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to the 1R IR I {5 3 & 2877 L @AX (I 5E (o)
Share Offer (Note (c)) 200,000,000 2,000
As at 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019 R=-Z—-N\E+=-A=+—H "
and 31 December 2019 —E2-hF-HA—-HK
—E-hF+=-A=+—H 800,000,000 8,000
*  The balances represented an amount less than HK$1,000. * RERBIELR,0008 TH R o
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23. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands on 18 April 2018 with an initial authorised share capital of
HK$100,000 divided into 10,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each and

1 nil-paid share was issued thereafter.

As part of the Reorganisation for the Listing:

(i) On 10 August 2018, 1,999 new ordinary shares and the one issued

ordinary share were credited as fully paid.

(i) On 20 August 2018, the authorised share capital was increased from
HK$100,000 divided into 10,000,000 ordinary shares of par value
HK$0.01 each to HK$15,000,000 divided into 1,500,000,000 ordinary
shares of par value HK$0.01 each, by the creation of an additional
1,490,000,000 shares.

(i) On 20 August 2018, 599,998,000 new ordinary shares of nominal
value of HK$5,999,980 were issued and credited as fully paid,
by way of capitalisation from the share premium account of the
Company, pursuant to the Capitalisation Issue as detailed in the

Prospectus.

On 12 September 2018, 200,000,000 new ordinary shares of par value
of HK$0.01 each share were issued at a price of HK$0.4 per share and
credited as fully paid pursuant to the Share Offer as detailed in the
Prospectus. The gross proceeds amounted to HK$80,000,000 and the
listing costs directly attributable to the issue of shares amounted to
approximately HK$7,332,000. The remaining proceeds amounted to
approximately HK$70,668,000 were credited to the Company’s share

premium account.

On 27 February 2018, the same capital of Mannings was increased
by HK$4,999,900 with allotment of 4,999,900 ordinary shares by
capitalising HK$4,999,900 of amounts due to the then shareholder (“Loan
Capitalisation”).

In March 2018, as part of the Reorganisation, (i) Richness Universal
was authorised to allot and issue, credited as fully paid, a total of 482
ordinary shares of US$1 each to Pre-IPO Investors at consideration of
HK$12,000,000 (“Pre-IPO Investments”); and (ii) 518 new ordinary shares
and 98 new ordinary shares of Richness Universal, credited as fully paid
at par, were allotted to Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar and a Pre-IPO Investor

respectively, by way of bonus issue (“Bonus Shares”).

23. |BA ()
GEE

@ AR —N\FUNA+NEBREHREHER
A ‘/iﬁéf;ﬁ;%ﬁ%afﬂﬂﬁﬁziﬁ%?ﬁﬁaﬁﬁ%ﬁ )
#5E E AR AN 43 100,000 7% 7T (4 4% 10,000,000 A% & A%
EE0IB T EBR) « HEET1RRMBRNK
&

b) {ERBHLEMETIEAZ &R

) RZT-—NAFENA+AH 19998 EEBR
RIBRBHETERREARIMESR -

iy RZZE-—NFENAZTH BBILRFEI
1,490,000,000 % A% £ - % 5E AR 7~ €3 100,000
7 7% (% 410,000,000 A% & f% @ fH0.01 7%
JL 2 B AR) # % 15,000,000 7T (5 A&
1,500,000,000 % & i T {E0.01 78 7T 2 & i
&) o

iy RZZ—NFENA=-+B BEBBRER:
itz BA(CEEAT - BBREREARRBRG
i (B BR + 599,998,000 f% E 1B 4 5,999,980 %
TEZFEBRE BHTLARIIEME ©

© R-ZE—N\ELA+-B REEAR=EFiHz
fi& {5 3 & - 8 A& & %0.01 % 7T Z 200,000,000 B%
ML BRERER0ABITHERZITIEARSIE
BB - FT15 3% 1B # 58 /480,000,000 7T K& FATAR A
BEEEML EWMA AKX /7,332,000 T © FT15 K18
EREE 470,668,000 Tt AZR R B89 AR 19 4 (B B

d RZT-—NFZA=++tA BBENLEMNE
P IR 3R 7K 1E 4,999,900 7% 7T if BE 2% 4,999,900 A & i
Mz 753 AL R & AR AR 1 04,999,900 7% 7T
(TEHRERE]D °

) RZZE—-—NF=A" 1’?7%?&52_%'\‘(”
Richness Universal B AL 5 &k 2176 #1482k T
BREEI1IZETARIASHE 2 EBRTERARH
BREMRESE - ﬁf #$12,000,0007% 7T ([ &R A3
BEERIRE ]) + R (i) Richness Universal 2 518 f% ¥
ELh&%hﬁ CEREBEBARETZAAD
RIECEH TREFEAERBARNFBESHRES (4
R - ZEROEREEARIERR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

24. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements

during the year are presented in the consolidated statement

of changes in equity of the consolidated financial statements.

(a)

(b)

Capital reserve

Capital reserve of the Group as at 31 December 2019
and 2018 represents the difference between the nominal
value of the share capital of subsidiaries acquired by the
Group and the nominal value of the Company’s shares

issued for the acquisition under the Reorganisation.

Share premium

The share premium includes (i) the difference between
the par value of the shares of the Company and net
proceeds received from the issuance of the shares of the
Company as detailed in Note 23(c) less the Capitalisation
Issue as detailed in Note 23(b)(iii).

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium account of the Company may be
applied for payment of distributions or dividends to the
shareholders provided that immediately following the
date on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to
be paid, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall

due in the ordinary course of business.
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(a) EXRRE
REEBRZZE-—NLFRZZTE-NF
TZA=T—HBMERFEEEAEE
Frig gt B A R MR AN EE EB R E
HEETWEMETARRROHEE
ZEHZRE o

(b) Bt EHE
RNEEEFEOARARNEERR
AT R B IR0 B BT 15 SR IE R B8
Z 8 =5 (5 R E23(0) M E Ak
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25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 25. XA BB AR R &K

COMPANY
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FABTT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interest in a subsidiary R — W E A R s 44,271 44,271
Current assets REBEE
Other receivable H b & W I8 192 -
Bank balance SRTT 4L R 56,442 55,597
56,634 55,597
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payable H fth fE 4 5118 10 10
Amount due to a subsidiary JE A< — P Bt /88 1 B KT8 3,144 830
3,154 840
Net current assets RBEEFE 53,480 54,757
Net assets BEEFRE 97,751 99,028
EQUITY R
Share capital % 7 8,000 8,000
Reserves (Note) it (MEE) 89,751 91,028
Total equity RSB 97,751 99,028
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors RZE_EF=-A-_t+HEESEZHHER
on 20 March 2020. BT o
Cheung Kwan Tar Ng Pak Hung
REHE RS
Director Director
EZE EZE
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25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Note: The movements of the Company’s reserves are as follows:

25. AR R EMRRE (&)

i - AAREERBOT :

Share Capital Accumulated

premium reserve losses  Total reserves
IR 10 {8 BEXRRE RiEE REEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET

(Note 24(b)) (Note)

(M7 24(b)) (Bt E)

Balance as at 18 April 2018 RZZE—NFmMA+ /B

(date of incorporation) (GRS B HA) - - = =
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant RIBE AL BT BT EBAR

to the Capitalisation Issue (B 5% 23(b)(iii))

(Note 23(b)(iii) (6,000) - - (6,000)
Effect of group reorganisation SESHENTE = 44,271 = 44,271
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant RIBA D B E BT EBR

to the Share Offer (Note 23(c)) (P 5 23(c)) 70,668 - - 70,668
Loss and total comprehensive expense Hi A E518 & 2 T X 4258

for the period - - (17,911) (17,911)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 and  R=Z—N\F+=ZA=+—HRK

1 January 2019 —T-hF—A—BREH 64,668 44,271 (17,911) 91,028
Loss and total comprehensive expense FREE K EEFAX L

for the year - - (1,277) (1,277)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 R=-Z-—NE+=A=+—H

fa BR 64,668 44,271 (19,188) 89,751

Note: Capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the
total equity of Richness Universal acquired by the Company pursuant to
the Reorganisation over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued
in exchange therefor.

i3 - ANR R M E AR ETE AR A AR IR E 4B W Richness
Universal B 1 2= 42 58 B2 7K 2 &) 5t 1t i 3517 &9 AR 19
HEZFEHELE -

26. LEASE COMMITMENTS

As lessee

26. HEHAIE
EBEAA
REREAYR SHEENEERE (-
T—N\F: AEBRBETAURNCLHERE
HH R R RER SRR T :

At the end of each reporting date, the lease commitments for
short-term leases (2018: total future minimum lease payments
payable by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases)
are as follows:

2019 2018

—E-NE —E-N\F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET THETT

Within one year —&FR - 2,268
In the second to fifth years FEEERF - 4,168
- 6,436

As at 31 December 2018, the Group is the lessee in respect
of premises under operating leases. The leases typically run
for an initial period of two to three years. The leases do not

R-ZB-NF+-ZA=1+—8 "&EEAR
SHEE NYENATEA - HENNFSHR
—REZE=F HETTBEEHAESL -

include contingent rentals.
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the balances and transactions detailed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group
had the following related party transactions during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
The emoluments of the directors and senior management
of the Company, who represent the key management
personnel during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018 are as follows:

27. BB AR5
BREAPBRREMBD MFBROEBRRER
S AEBRBE-E—AER-Z—N
F+-A=+—BI-EFEHELS THIBEES
%5

() TEEEAEHME
RBE_Z-NFR-_ZB-N\F+=
A=+—HLEFE ARAEEKRSD
RERE(RTEEEAB)MEMT :

2019 2018

ZE-NF —T-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET T

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEMET 9,684 9,365

Discretionary bonuses B IEAT 2,410 3,310

Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B 158 135

12,252 12,810

(b) Material related party transactions (b) EXBBARS

2019 2018

—B-nF —T-)\F

Name of related party Nature HK$'000 HK$'000

2k yacg =1 THET FAET

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (Note (a)) Lease payments (2018: Rental expense) 353 349
REFEL A (5 (a) HEFB(CZE-N\: HERD)

Ms. Chiu Chui Ping (Note (b)) Lease payments (2018: Rental expense) 291 226
R 2+ (M3 (b)) HEFB(CZE-N\: HERD)

Head Concept Limited (Note (c)) Lease payments (2018: Rental expense) 398 173
E—ARAR (M) HEFB(CZE-N\: HEFRD)

Jetek Company Limited (Note (d)) Lease payments (2018: Rental expense) 696 757
=Rl NS R AC)) HEFB(CZE-N\: HERAD)

Manita Company Limited (Note (e))  Lease payments (2018: Rental expense) 234 181
EREFRAF (M) HEFB(CZZE-N\: HEFRAD)
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 27. BMR RS (#)

(b) Material related party transactions (continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar is the Controlling Shareholder and an

executive director of the Company.

(b)  Ms. Chiu Chui Ping is the spouse of Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar and a

senior management of the Group.

(c) As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, Head Concept Limited is owned
by Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar as to 51% and Ms. Chiu Chui Ping as to
49%.

(d)  Jetek Company Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar.

(e)  Manita Company Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Chiu Chui Ping.

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations. The
financial risks include interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group's overall risk management strategy seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. Risk management is carried out by the senior
management of the Group and approved by the board of

directors.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28. Y ABERER QX PEFE#)
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
28.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities BITREEREESE
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated EAMBRIREKAYERERE TS
statement of financial position relate to the following mEAEHABBLSBEER

categories of financial assets and liabilities:

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Financial assets EREE
At amortised cost: B AFTE -
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 &k HEAth eI GRIB 34,020 28,564
— Cash and bank balances —IR& MIRTTHE S 89,141 75,285
123,161 103,849
2019 2018
—ZE-hF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FABT
Financial liabilities SREE
At amortised cost: WHEK AT E
— Trade and other payables —B 5 R E b fERFRIE 6,653 2,059
— Amount due to directors/a director —ENEE —REEANE 1,800 1,500
— Lease liabilities —HE&E 4,442 =
12,895 3,559
28.2 Interest rate risk 28.2 F| = & by
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or HEMTEMATEXREREES H
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because B =R B B R T 35 R R E) ik &) o
of changes in market interest rates.
The exposure to interest rate risk for the Group’s bank N &R B R 1T 4 R I RR B AR 1T 17 3K A9 7
balances and short-term bank deposits is considered EEBRAERR AL TEK o

immaterial.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE
28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28. I EREER AFEFE @)
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

28.3 Credit risk 283ERE M

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause
a financial loss to the Group. The Group's exposure to
credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to customers
in the ordinary course of its operations. The Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised financial
assets and contract assets is limited to the carrying

amount at end of each reporting period.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract
assets, individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers and counterparties. These evaluations
focus on the counterparty’s financial position, past
history of making payments and take into account
information specific to the counterparty as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
counterparty operates. Monitoring procedures have been
implemented to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade and
other receivable and contract asset balance at the end
of each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment

losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

At 31 December 2019, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 11% and 42% (2018: 12% and 38%), of the
total trade and other receivables (Note 28.1) were due
from the Group's largest trade debtor and five largest
trade debtors respectively. The aggregate amounts of
trade and other receivables from these trade debtors
amounted to HK$3,754,000 and HK$14,347,000 (2018:
HK$3,304,000 and HK$10,960,000) of the Group's total
trade and other receivables at 31 December 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

28.3 Credit risk (continued)

28. Y EABREER N VEFE (&)

2835 EmM (&)

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information. Internal
credit rating, actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations, actual or
expected significant changes in the operating results of
the borrower and significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower including
changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Group
and changes in the operating results of the borrower are

indicators to be incorporated.

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the
ECL rates, the Group considers historical elements and

forward looking elements.
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MEAZY (BERERARAEE M
MR EB R ERARERENEET))

YRATEHNER
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BEHMEERREXE AKEZEESL
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28. MBEREERAFETE (&)
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
28.3 Credit risk (continued) 2838 =M (&)

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (i) BEEWHRERESNEE

The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECL provision for all

trade receivables and contract assets.

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
trade receivables and contract assets. To measure
the ECL, trade receivables and contract assets
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The contract
assets relate to work completed but not billed at
the reporting date and have substantially the same
risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the
same types of contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the ECL rates for trade receivables
are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for

the contract assets.

The provision matrix is determined based on the
Group's historical settlement experience of the
debtors that have similar loss pattern and are
adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The Group
has identified the gross domestic product in
Hong Kong to be the most relevant factors, and
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on

expected changes in these factors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BHmRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

28.3 Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

On that basis, the ECL allowance for trade

receivables as at 31 December 2019 was determined

as follows:

28. Y EABREER N VEFE (&)

2835 EmM (&)

() BSEURERGHNEE (&)
ERERE RZZE-AF+=
A=+t —BMEZRKFIANTE
HEEBHRBEETOT

Expected Gross Net
credit loss carrying ECL carrying
rate amount  allowance amount

RHMEE RHBEE
BEZE RELAE HERE REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAETT TETT FETT

— Neither past due nor — N6 HR R A

impaired A 0.10% 14,715 (15) 14,700
— Less than 90 days past due ~ —#@HID R 90K 0.16% 5,447 ©) 5,438
— Over 90 days past due — 360 B R 18 90 K 3.50% 10,170 (356) 9,814
30,332 (380) 29,952
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

28.3 Credit risk (continued)

(0]

(ii)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
On that basis, the ECL allowance for contract assets

as at 31 December 2019 was determined as follows:

28. Y EABREER N VEFE (&)

2835 EmM (&)

(i)

EZRUREREGHNEE (&)
ERERE RZZE-AF+=
A=+T—HBMERNEENTRHE

EBERERETOAT :
Gross Net
Expected credit loss rate carrying amount ECL allowance carrying amount
BHEFERER IRE A E RAFEBERE AR EFHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THETT THETT
1.25% 12,362 (155) 12,207

As at 31 December 2018, assessed lifetime ECL rate
of contract assets and trade receivables is close to
be zero as there are no recent history of default and
continuous payment received. Based on historical
and forward looking elements of the Group, it was
determined that loss allowance provision is minimal
in respect of these balances as there has not been a

significant change in credit quality of the customers.

Other financial assets

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group
expects that the credit risk associated with other
receivables is considered to be low, since the
majority of these balances is due from government
authorities having a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
The Group has assessed that the ECL for these
receivables are minimal under the 12 months ECL
method as there is no significant increase in credit
risk on these receivables since initial recognition and
the risk of default is low during the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

The credit risks on bank balances are considered
to be insignificant because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE
28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28. I EREER AFEFE @)
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

28.4 Liquidity risk 28.4 57 By 1 [ B

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk
in respect of settlement of trade and other payables,
lease liabilities and amounts due to directors/a director,
and also in respect of its cash flow management. The
Group's objective is to maintain an appropriate level of
liquid assets and committed lines of funding to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the
Group in meeting its liabilities.

The analysis set out the remaining contractual maturity
based on undiscounted cash flow of the Group’s financial
liabilities at the reporting date.

B 1 R fer T B K SR (B OR B g
UZRAREHAZ—SREEFENS
BMAEBEHBEINRRER ~AEE
RBEEESREMENKE HER
BERENES/ —ZEERAARR
TREEENTEAZ R MERR - A
SENEESEREEKRENRBE
ERBBTHER#EEE URERE
HEERARHESFEK

FH®

EEEERARBABETEREIMNR
ERETRA -

ZOMEINRBEAEE R RS BB
EREBENRMERRSREFTENH
TEREBER -

Within one Total
year or on One to undiscounted Carrying
demand two years amount amount

—FRH AR
REX —EmMF Bewm REE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TERT TET TET

As at 31 December 2019 R=B-hF
+ZRA=+-H

Trade and other payables B 5 R eI FRIE 6,653 - 6,653 6,653
Amount due to directors [EREERIE 1,800 = 1,800 1,800
Lease Liabilities HERE 2,685 1,917 4,602 4,442
11,138 1,917 13,055 12,895

Within one Total
year or on Oneto undiscounted Carrying
demand two years amount amount

—F Rk RELER
BREX —EME L] fRE(E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET FAET

As at 31 December 2018 R-Z-N\F
+t=ZA=t-H

Trade and other payables 85 REMERNFIR 2,059 = 2,059 2,059
Amount due to a director e —%EFFE 1,500 - 1,500 1,500
3,559 - 3,559 3,559
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

28.

29.

30.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

28.5 Fair value measurement
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and
liabilities are not materially different from their fair values

at each reporting date due to their short maturities.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain
capital structure in order to minimise the costs of capital,

support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure
and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of the debt to equity ratio. For this purpose, debt is
defined as borrowings net of cash and bank balance. In order
to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, share buyback,

issue new shares and raise new debts.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the debt to equity ratio
was not presented as the Group had no borrowings.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group entered

into certain lease contracts related to premises which are not
existing as at 31 December 2018, in which additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities amounting to HK$1,052,000

was recognised at the lease commencement date.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the share capital
of Mannings was increased by HK$4,999,900 by capitalising
HK$4,999,900 of amount due to the then shareholder, Mr.
Cheung Kwan Tar.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ T —NF+_A=1T—HIEFE

31. RECONCILIATIONS OF LIABILITIES ARISING N.MEEFHMELEERER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities for HE_Z-NEFR_Z-N\F+A=+—
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: H Jtif; ' mﬂﬁxﬁ@ﬁﬁ%iﬁﬁz\ﬁﬁgﬁﬂ? :
Amount
due to
directors/ Lease
a director Liabilities Total
ERES
—BEERE HEAE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET T
As at 1 January 2018 R=—Z2—NF—HA—H 8,073 = 8,073
Non-cash transactions (Note 30) JEIR LR 5 (MIEE30) (5,000) - (5,000)
Cash flows from financing activities: &t iéfﬁiﬁﬁﬁ?%ﬁﬁfﬁ% :
Dividends paid BIE (3,073) = (3,073)
Cash flows from operating activities: &% %/E@J)Eﬁ REME -
Increase in amount due to JEfT— %%% RIAIE AN
a director 1,500 - 1,500
As at 31 December 2018 and R=-ZB-—NF+=H
1 January 2019 =+—HBRZ=B-h#F
—HB—H 1,500 - 1,500
Impact on initial application of BRIERB BB HHRE %R
HKFRS 16 (Note 3) 1Rz e (HE) - 5,558 5,558
Adjusted balance as at R=Z2—NF—-HA—H
1 January 2019 REEL R 1,500 5,558 7,058
Non-cash transactions (Note 30)  FEIR &R 5 (fi5E30) - 1,052 1,052
Other changes: Hh &g
Interest expense for lease HEBGBEMERX
liabilities - 215 215
Cash flows from operating KEEBFERESME -
activities:
Increase in amount due to JE T = SRIEIE AN
directors 300 - 300
Cash flows from financing activities: Bl & /G EIFTISIREME
Capital element of lease rentals ENHEE 2 ERET D
paid - (2,168) (2,168)
Interest element of lease rentals ENHEE 2 EEH D
paid - (215) (215)
As at 31 December 2019 R=-F—h%F
+=ZHA=+—8H 1,800 4,442 6,242
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the A TARBBEEARFHREARRBHAE=ZZT—N\F
Group for the last three financial years, extracted from the audited N\AZ+ WL BMNBRERRNLEEZT HHREROAN
financial statements in this annual report and the Prospectus of the SERBE=ZHAFBRFEEEUREENEGEH

Company dated 29 August 2018, is as follows. Cig
RESULTS E

For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t+t—-HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016
ZB-hE —E-N\F —ZT—+tF —T—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET TET T

Revenue W 100,720 88,422 86,221 71,313
Cost of services BR 7S AR 7R (58,158) (50,439) (50,831) (42,045)
Gross profit EF 42,562 37,983 35,390 29,268
Other income E Al A 1,263 568 466 820
Administrative expenses THHAX (23,850) (36,965) (15,294) (13,117)
Finance costs A& AR (215) = = =
Profit before income tax BRET BB ANER 19,760 1,586 20,562 16,971

Income tax expense FriS i X (3,262) (3,024) (3,372) (2,809)
Profit/(loss) and total AATEREEAEN

comprehensive income/(expense) FREF, (FiE) &
income for the year attributable ~ ZE U (BI3%)
to equity holders of the Company #2%§ 16,498 (1,438) 17,190 14,162

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

As at 31 December
Rt+t=A=+—H
2019 2018 2017 2016
ZB-hEFE —T)N\F —T—tF —T—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T FHETT FHETT

Total assets BEHE 142,863 117,352 42174 37,166
Total liabilities B ERRE (15,687) 6,577) (19,629) (18,458)
Total equity WS AEER 127,176 110,775 22,545 18,708
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